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DePue Today is Thursday, August 29, 2013. My name is Mark DeBinector of
Or al Hi story with the Abraham Lincoln
Library today sitting acrossthebal e fr om Mai ja Devi ne. B

full name, is it?

Devine Maija Rhee Devine.
DePue Okay
Devine R-h-e-e.
DePue And you pronounce th&é&?
Devine Rhee But the Korean pronunciation for this middle name, my maiden name,
some people Romanizeds Rh-e-e. Some people Romanize it asele.
SomeY-i . But ités all same name, E, in K
DePue But you didnét say AE. 0 You said ARhee
Devine | s ai dbedauRdves Romanize it in different way®ur family, birth

side decided to Romaniz¢ as Rh-e-e. So, the American ppnunciation for
t hat woul dnké¢ cEA®he®d¢, @
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were born in, not Korea, but Manchuria, grew up in Korea duhagvar.So,
we 0 r g todo® talking a little bit about military history, about your
experiences during the war, and a lot about your own experiaaces
immigrant.We 6have a chance to hear from somebody who is an expert on
these thingsbecause you grew up in that cuépand this is just a small taste

of it; just this discussion about the name gets to be an interesting situation. So
aski

|l et 6s start
you were born.

Okay. My understandingésl say thisb e cau s e |

wi t h

ng you a

donot

registry to prove it. It may take a lot of work to dig that up. But my
understanding is my birth family mother and father lived in Manchuria in
1943, when | was borigo, the reason they were in Mancfay rather thaé |
think their original home was somewhere in North Korea. | can find out
exactly what their hometown was.

very st

have

As | recall,thelast time you said it was somewhere close to Pyongyang?

Yes, uh huh.

e which is the capitakthen and now.

Right, right. Whether it was Pyongyang or near there, | have to find out for
you. Sg, | was born in Manchurjebecause that was during the Japanese
occupation periodMy father was afintellectua) people who rebelled
against Japanese occupatiandhe lost his job as a high school teaclés
and some colleagues went up to Manchuria and lived there as refugees
engaged in amtlapanese activisrAnd later, my biological father became a
lawyer. | understand he got a law degree in Japan and becarogtbee
leading lawyers in South Korea. He was military offjg@osecuting attorney
for the United States Army, and his job was to seelcomtmunistagitators
and sympathizers and try them and take legal action against themaSp
times they were ecuted. Many were jailed.

Would this have been after the Korean War?

This is during the Korean War. He was military attornend afterwards a
least a couple of decades afterwatdscontinued to be a military attorney,
prosecuting attarey. Later he returned to civilian life, and he opened a law
office, right in Myeongdong, which is like Sax Fifth Avenue in New York.

What 6s t he
What? Myeonegdong?

Myeongdong?

name

of

t

again?

t

r
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Devine: Um-hmm. Myeongdong. My-e-0-n-g dash eéo-n-g . ADongo means
neighborhood A Myeongo i s t he nlaignetheedntrat he ne
commercial area of Seoul.

DePue: Okay.

Devine: Yeah and there is huge landmarks the cathedral, Myeongong Cathedral
It 6sd st il l

DePue: You mean like ina Catholi®

Devine: 0 Catholic cathedral. Um hmm, and his law office was straight across from
thatcathedral

DePue: l 6m curious. You sRayaouthinkehe wentstheren Manc hu

around 1940 or in that neighborhood?

Devine: | think so, es.
DePue: Soheds | e aoccupieg Karea f gato Manchuria. But was he in an

area that was controlled by the Nationalists orctiramunistan Manchuria?

Or do you know? It might be something
Devine: | think it was a very fluid siiation there. | think there weoemmunistshere

andnationaliststhere, too.

DePue: Well, | guess my curiosity is, he would have been exposed to both of those
very different social and economic systems

Devine: Yes.

DePue: Do you know how strong® This is kind of an unfair questio he part we
havenot gyootu tdoo nybett kinso w,btehciasu snea nt hviesr yi s
father that you grew up with.

Devine: Right, right.

DePue: But, do you know how strong his feelings were agageshmunist® Was tis
something

Devine: Oh, he was definitely, totallyg hundred percerdnt-communist

DePue: What was it about theommunistmessage and tlmmmunistideology that

he was so vehemently oppoge@ Do you know?

Devine: Most South and North Koreans aygged tocommunism Someof them
intellectually theymight have seenn communistideals the communist
idealism, the paradise where everybody shares everything equaleyy ta 6 s
wonderful philosophybut in practice communistshad complete control over
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private, regular citizens$o, there was no privacy whatsoever, no freedom of

speech. Everything was controllddhink intellectuals in South Korea and

North Korea at that time, they were very split. Intellectually, they could

understand good things@lt communismY et, in practice the having just
completely taking away private citizen
completetotal control of every aspect of citizenshjpust di dndt wor k
them. They just couldnodot I|ive with tha

Ok avy. I 61 | itkeyour gwm perspnal @Xdperienpe and what
happened to you after you were born in 1®48 h gdu know the story you
know about.

What do | know about what?
What happened to you as a baby.

Oh, what happene#dt me. | di dnot kn,ailafehlat happ:e
graduated from college. Until | graduated from college, | thought | was born

in Seoul to a workinglass family My father was a truck drivewho was

totally illiterate, never been to school. My matlmad second or thirgrade

educationand, &er they got marriedmy mother taught my father how to

read.Sq | grew up believing that these were my parents, the woitisgs

truck driver family. Andunt i I after | graduaetted fr ol
led.

But, when | was getting ready to come to United Stdiesause |
graduated fronogangUniversityd i t 6 s a Jedthentanwhoi ver sit
was a gebetween for the adoption told me that | was adamied my
biological father actually was a lawydraving this posh law offigeight
across from Myeonglong Cathedraln the middle of the most glitzy
commercial district in Seoul

Webdbre going to talk quite a bit more a
this. But what have you learned sindmat what had actually happened after
your birth?

Okay. What apparently happenedligias born in Manchuria as a twin, with a
boy, in lunar April 14th or so. Later, after | was adopted, | was given May 16
as my birthday. Thuathefother,sadat. | unar cal en

Which do you celebrate todayhe May one?

May 16 th a twidats| celebrate. Buapparentlyin lunar calendar we were

born in April 14th or somethindvy twin brother still observes his birthday

on lunar calendar. Anyay, | was bornAt that time, under Japanese

occupation, Koreans were given food raticarsl when children were born

|l 6m sure they gave a | ittleBhuaby fdomndt
know if they doubled jtjust because a family had twjre not.



Maija Rhee Devine Interview # IMA-L-2013071

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:
Devine:
DePue:

Devine:

DePue:
Devine:
DePue:
Devine:

DePue:

My father, because he lost his teaching job in Semul he was living
a political r ef ug eallylnideartifiabldsouwceaf6t t hi n
income at that time. He wasst boarding with some friends, and they were
sharing food. Saheywere on a subsistence level, anthen | was born with
a twin, they were extremely poor.

So there were several reasons why they gave me awaytli@ye
were poor, couldndt a,ftherewede simefolk eed bot
beliefs thatif twin boy and girl were raised togethehe girl baby would
drain away all the luck that was going to the boy b&oythey gave the girl
away in order for all the luck that the boy would have would come to him.
That 6s one of the f ol ks thebtlievedittgif 1 un
they were raised together, they migh
theory according to my older brotheAlthough later my birth mother said,
AOh, this man, my birth fatherds best
Seoul, which is warmer climate Besides, | washe sickly of the two twins.
So, she allowed him to take memporarily to South to get me to recover
from the illnessShe expected him to bring me back in one month.

| s AMe®) & hBn, thatRduebeth mama? s

No. My birthname, | think it waglwa Soon, Hwa Soon Rh&w, my birth

mot her allowed me to be taken,mgway. B u
birth mother knew this baby was never coming back. She packed a lot of

thingee Well, everything that belonged to r&he gave away with the baby

But anywag So,t her ebds di fferent theories on |

Did your twin brother know that he had a twin?
Yes.
They had told him that.

Yes. He grew up knowing somewheheite was a twin sister. All the bay$
have a one younger brother, too, three years youhigdmew that | existed,
too. My older brother knew where | was living, and he came to visit me.

And the younger brother is a biological brottes well.

Yes.

Correct?

Yes.

This is all going to get complicated (
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Yes. | have three, hundred percent biological brothers, one of them being a
twin.Sqt hat 6 s whidy biaplpeqgeatiiendforaughtme 6 s b
down to Seoul, where his nephew and his wife litdid nephew and wife

had no children, even though they had been mariied ten or fifteen years,

ten yearsSo, the man gave me to the nephew and his wife, childless couple.
Theywere more than happy to take me in, even though they would have

preferred to have a boy. But nobody would give away boy babies, and so they
were just happy to hattee v e n i f 0 tihet \bese happydoihave a child.

This would all have occurred iD43?
Yes.
In the midst of the &ond World War, no less.

Yes. lunderstandtheaa f t er | came to the adoptive
hundredthday celebration, whichisb i g de al i n Korea. Ma n
live to be hundred dayold so when a baby reaches 100 dalysen they had

huge celebratigrwith all the families and relatives getting together. | hear

that my hundredtiday celebration was done in Sedblown by the adoptive

parents.

Now, Seoul is already, in1948 very big city But | 6ve
essentially youdbére |living in a small N
everybody el sebds business.

Yes, ight.

Didnét all the neighbors know that vyou

Yes they did Yes,of course they did. Buthe adoption practice at that time,

and for the next several decades too,
t he child that she, or dopt ed. O
adoptions were done among family members, like
they, a brother, younger brother, had fsans, but
older brother had no son, then the older brother
would adopt the youngdr r o t, breof theskids
So, in that casghey all know who was adopted.

But, if a child was just dropped at a doorstep
of some strangershen they never told thabitd that
that child was dropped at their doorstep. They just
took the child in and raised theas their own, never = Maija Rheeas a baby,
telling the child because they believed thétthe taken shortly after her
child discovered that she or he was abandoned by 2adoption in 1950.
birth family, it would beemotional tauma that the
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child would never be able to overcomde child would becoma juvenile
delinquentor worse, which would be killing, committing suicide., 8wy
really, seriously believed this, and they did not tell the adopted children.

So,t hat 0 yparnehtyhadmever toldihe neighbors knew | was
adopted, but they would not tell irigecause they were afraid | would become
an emotional basket caséhey would not want that happening to me.

Would they also keep that from their own children?

They try. They try. But sometimes it leaked.

| was going to say, humannatarédh e Kor ean cul ture canot
Right.

Human nature woudl

Yeah Sqg in my novel, The Voices of Heavehexplain these things.Have
neighbor children, you knowry to tell me, theMi-nacharacter, based on my
storyd Mi-nais thedaughter character in my nogeandMi-nanearly finds
outabout her adoption, because neighborhood children say some&bjng.
Mi-narushes in and confrds the grandmother and moth¥ou know,

mother just laughsandMi-nag et s mad , AMom, Amlw can Yy
mot her says, ALook at your forehead. I
your father. Look at your mmesseg.oulrtds n
dad®@&lsl. ot hese things, she would point t

just saying things. o
Did you have any experiences like this yourself?

Yes. Yes. | put my personal experiences in my novel, yes. Taikigely
autobiogaphical work.

Who gave you the new name, then?
My adoptive parents.

Now, | understand that part of the culture in Korea is that the grandfather gets
to namethe grandchildren.

Right. In this case, there was no grandfather.dondét know i f gr ar
would have given the name or not. But this is during the Japanese occupation,

and Japanese forced all Koreans to change their names to Jagigileese

namesThey forbade Koreans to use any Korean language, written otroral.

schools children were forbidden tose Korean languageso, Koreans

changed their last names to Japanese last names and first narBesttoe.a t 6 s

why my nameii Ma,bj was ¢ h oapapese narhéh Joasp aanels e it 6s
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WoomaekoWoomaekane a mplam bfossoms And in Koreanit translates
to Maija. Mai is a Chinese charaat me a n iplungblogsom da[cha] is the
endingforagi r | 6 s name tKoldVoomhekpViikoeSashil. Ko
ending is equivalerdf Koreanja, me ani ng Aditoés a girl és n

Y o u 0 r e ja.sThaysounds likeh, but you spdlit ja?
Uh huh

Now, you also said first name and lastnafle at 6 s a point of co
us Westerneta s we l |, wa d thidoki youiwesterniBeetlata Where
yousaidi| ast named you meant the family n
would be seenf you were to write out a Korean name, the family name?

Yes. Koreans write the last name first, and tliest name next. Sanine
would be ARKEMai Mai a&Kooeafh pronunciati

~

I s, 0@n&Emyi r st name | sEMaiajig.a0o 0 So itods i
Soyour adopted fatherds family name i s
Yes. It just happened that they had same family naiRemanizedt R-h-e-e.

Okay. Therebdés only a handful of family
there not?

Yes, t hGnly inaybetfifteener. sixteen last namegeah But, even

among people with the last nameodfiRhee or Lee, there are seviRakes

dependng on the ancestral hometowns. My ancestors came@tmm Ju. Sp

mine is Chun Jikhee Chun JuRheeis supposed to be very prominent family

lineegoi ng up to King Seatonepgointmydldérs a r oya
brother did some genealogyrk. He went up through thkingsand tried to

trace thatSo, yeah,that royalking line, Rhee spell their last name-R-e-g,

ikkRhee Syngman, Symeeman tRjsetad;&tintbéese R

But all of that i s whaigwhenyau@et@&ousdai d s e
to the point of Romanizing it. Obviousi{to r eans dondt write w
alphabet we do.

Right.

| know this much about Koreanou6r e proud of your wri
you not?

Oh, my, yes, yene of tle things that I try to do in my novel is try to

portray Koreans and their culture and their history and their language. They
are peopleas distinct from Chinese and Japan&¥e, apparently, Koreans,
saw ourselves as distinctly different from Chinese Jaghnese. Otherwise,

all these fortresses that they sed upiles and miles of fortressesd walls to
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battle against Chinese invasions for 3,000 years and Japanese for 2,000

yveard woul d not have happened, if they tF
to Chnese, so they could easily just call themselves Chinese and just give up

and become Chinese. 0 They cOnaéofthe have d
things that Koreanslentify themselves as Koreans fartheir language.

They didnodt h aagedor dt leasti2 500 gearsazlrlly aistogy.u

They used Chinese language.

They used Chinese characters?

Yes.They had their own oral language that was different from Chinese. But

they used the written Chinese language in their official desus and

communication, written communicatio8g, for 2,500 years, 2,200 years, they

used Chinese characters. But they had oral language that was different.

duringKing Sejong s ter m, which was in 1442, Ki
to have a betterystem. We have to have the verbal language matching the
written | ,degathesed tep lioguisioscholars, and they came up

with this | anguage, alphabeticai$. I tos
pictorial, not at all alphabetical. Butafean is alphabetical, and according

Meaning that you can sound out the wordd by

Yes. We have ten vowels and fourteen consongvitere did this come
from? According to linguistic scholar&prean language belongs to Ural
Altaic language mup. In that language group, there are languages like
Finnish and Hungariar8q Korean language is closest to Hungarian and
Finnish.

The written language or the oral language

Ah! | t 6 s t Orad languageanatthesithe grittenlangge . That 6s
the beauty oKorean language. Stor 2,500 yearsthey had two languages
one separate written language andfleen e o r al | anguage t hat

But KingHayeld ongo
Hangul?

Hangul, h-a-n-g-u-I.

Which is thewritten languag@e

Yes, written and anmdthessamel\We prgnounceedt . It éds o
exactly the way itbés written.

Well, I think Americans would say that you spdarean Theywo ul dnét s ay
that you speak Hangul.

Hangul is justa Korean vocabulary word for Korean language.
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DePue: Now, the Japanese had been occupiers of Korea, oh, since the early 1900s.
And you said that essentially it sounds éke

Devine: Nineteen ten. Nineteen ten is when they officially annexed Korea.

DePue: € they were trying to destroy the Korean language. What was spoken when
you were growing up?

Devine: Korean yeah.
DePue: Was there Japanese spokaswell?
Devine: Many people picked it ygluring the Japanese occupatiBa, yes, many

Koreans haél Theywere bilingual, Japanese and Koreantually they knew
how to write Chinese written charactess we had three languages. And
newspapers too. Newspapers, | would, gayhe old timein 1940s andbO0s,
70% of the newspaper showed Chinese charadestsmaybe 30% would be
in Korean.

But, anyway, your question about Japanese trying to wipe out Korean
languageWhen King Sejong created this Korean Hangul, the scholdns
were already totally fluent in  ,written
thh s is stupid [ anguage. | t 6 sandyttustis t en v
t oo s i mp3oeahe $chotar minstey® t hey di dndét use Ko
language. The verbal languadigey continued to use Korean. But written
language was strictly Chése for hundreds of years, throughgubDynasty,
which lasted 600 years. The finedyal dynasty, Yi Dynas#y See that Yiis
the same as my last namehf-e, but history books spell it as-Y, yeah,

anyway.
DePue: Well, this whole thing theholding onto the Chinese written languagrikes
me as very elitist in nare
Devine: Yes.
DePue: This is one way that they can preserve their power.
Devine: Yes exactly. So, the highclass people, educated clagsisted the Korean

languageuntil Japaneseame in andtheytried to wipe it outOkay. They
sai d, i 6l B bekusedneva n t ahdeverbal, orallanguage too. They

s a i Yoy all start speaking Japanese and write JapaneseThi s 1 s when
Korean elitist peopt upper class, educated, offis and ministers, that level

of peopld s ai d, AWaThi sa ims naware | anguage. Yo
wi pe out our | anguage. 0

So, that became the hugest impetus for renaissance of Korean
languageThe Korean language revival happened because of theséap
pushto wipe it out.So, the educated, elitist peopleegan to write novels in

10
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Korean and they pushed a movement in the newspaper targan
language onlyAll these happened because of this.

Are you suggest i ngpectbfatubpoannessahdat t her eod
contrariness among the Korean people?

That O0sbothhughhtl t(ell you, theydre very,
ornery people. (laughs)

Except for you, perhaps?
(laughs) No, | admjtl am very orneryoo. My husband will agre€laughs)

Well, this is probably a good time to factor religion into this discussien
well.

Okay.

What was your biologicél Well, 1 guess t hletadse youweree!| ev an
already adopted by the timewdegan to get any kind of religious instruction.

Right.

Sao your adopted parentahat was their religion?

They believed in Buddhism. And my mot h
Wait a minute.

€ paternal aunt.

Okay.

Her paternal aunvas a shaman. Shaman, sorceress.

Y o tedonfusng me herebecauseyousaig oudr e f at her ds si st
mot her 6s?

No. Mot herds fatherds sister.
Okay, so youd

Mot her ds aunt .

We woull say great aunt.

My great aunt, but my motherds aunt.

Okay.

11
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Devine: Was a shaman.
DePue: Which means what?
Devine: The Korean name for that is Mudang;Wt-a-n-g. Mudung is a sorceress.
This is a religious persotike in Native Americariradition here in United
St at es. ltdés |Ilike a medicine man. The

ceremonies to better the fortunes of families, you know, all kinds of purposes.
This shaman performed rites, rituals, religious rituals and had a whagé set
clients who came to her for these rituals.

DePue: Can you be both Buddhist and believe in some of the shaman rituals?

Devine: Oh yes, yes. Actually yes, yes. You could do both. And lots oftistiaman
would send the families of deceased membersutidBist temples tpay to
maybe haveraancestral shrine set up theirethe Buddhistemple and go
there. Spyeah

DePue: Some of these cultural things, like it would be bad for twin brother and sister
to grow up together, would that be an aspect ofnsimasm or is that just kind
of in the cultureor is it something religious based?

Devine: Il think itdés folk belief.
DePue Which is different from your understanding from being with the sh&man
Devine Yes. YesFolk belief is a loose group of belshat Koreansover 3,000 year

history, developedThatmay or may not be directly related to any religion
like Buddhismor Taoism Taoism is another mainstream religion in Korea.
Another mainstream religion in Kea wasyin andyangandFive-Elements

school
DePue That s a new one to me.
Devine Yes, t ha t-ariginatad philosbpiye SireangangandFived
DePue The yin and the yang?
Devine Yes. Yin andyangandFive-Elementsschool Five elemats are like water,

fire, wind, wood Wh a tthé fifth ore? Soqthere are five elements that govern
everything All phenomena happening in the universeganeerned by these

five elements and their interactioasd yin and yang. Sé¢ hat 6 s t hat
phil osophy, ankKbred thoaSqbwould/sayrByddidm, g i n
Taoism next in importanceyin andyangand FiveElementsschool Yin and

yang fengshui, derived fromyin andyangand FiveElementsschool Yo u 6 r e
familiar with feng shui?

12
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DePue Shui . Well thatodés something twedwves betgu
mean | understand what the heck it is.

Devine Yeah Feng Shui includes believing thal placingcertain objects in the
house, for example, you can prevent bad luck from coming into your house.
So, Hong Kong is huge in thi§aiwan, too. If thee is a hugemodern
building, it was built, like thirtystory building, and Feng Shui experts said,
i N,ohis building is blocking the spirit of the mountain to come down to the
village, andso this building should not be buditSo, the architect, whatehdid
was on the top floorhe made a huge windelike thing, empty space, so that
the mountairspirit would move through that space and down to the village
people to bless therifhis is all Feng Shui.

DePue | confesghat| was watchingiHouse Hunters,[TV program]l think, one
time, and there was a Chinese couple who were looking for a house aad had
long list of things that they would not accept in a house.

Devine Right.

DePue I dondt know i f ttheihcusewmanberlmeywantentd t h e m,
avoid certain house numbers.

Devine Yes,| i ke four, galt mh enr Kfoo wersdm Sdh it @smberc al | e d
four, but that is also death. In Chinese charattdr a t al so means nad
they avoid number four.

DePue Or a house that had a tieern front to it.

Devine Exactly.Yes, thatodés a no, no, no, no.

DePue This is all(both laughingg So, do you live your life that way?

Devine No.

DePue Ok ay. Now webve got a,owvwwivisdthewortl di f f e
Aphil @s & eel vhioksthat probably is more applicabgnd t heydr e

not necessarily exclusive, are they?

Devine Right. Some are philosophidbtey are not religionsThe most prominent
philosophy, at least during the Yi Dynasty, the final dynasty, is Confucianism.
Thathas to go in there

DePue | read ondime, as | was flying to Korea, reading about Korean culture and
trying to understand;ithe author said that Koréaperhaps the most
Confudan country in Asia.

Devine Yes.

13
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Okay, now all of this is lgyering different complexities in the environment
youodor e gr owi,talgto mnegaboutiwhal it medhs tb be growing up
in this very Confucian society.

Confucian society, I dondt think Conf u
superiortow men. 0 | dondt k n,dwhisipfilosbpy spel | ec
was being interpreted by his discipl@&$e disciples would interpret the

mastersand s during that proces# became very clear that this is a male

centered philosophA nd wo me nsd ss upbljaeccet iAnd mends wi
woman is supposed to be completely submissive to the husband and father and

t he hus b a 8dConducidniamemniddd yip creating a very patriarchal
society, where womends rights were non

So, growing up in that ctilire was very, very, very, very difficult. |
faced nei ghbor s ahegoughowdahsve lreanybormag |, i Oh
boy. If you had been born a hopur parenté They dr e a very hapr
They want to just live togethewithout mistresses or anythinBut now your
father will have to take a mistress to produce a male,dhiglc ause youobr e
a b o yhearingShisas a three, four, fivgear old girl, it was really, really
tough.

Letds kind of wal k t hr onshgph. Whahteappens st o f
when you get to the point of being married in the Confucian society? Is that
somet hing thatdés arranged, typically?

Yes. At that timeup to 1950s andn rural areaseven in 1960s, arranged
marriages was the typical pattern.

Who was doing the arrangement? Wake men or the women in the
families?

Generally the parents or grandparents were involved in finding suitable

matches for their grandchildren or childr&ut, you know, all the family

members were eitled to bring candidates, suggest candidatesh Then

| ater on, fellow alums and alumso6 spou
workers in the office, they alélt almosé It was a show of friendship. If you

cared about somebody, you tried to comemvith some candigtes for that

person to meet.glghs)

Candidatethatd o e s n 6 t have the same romanti c t
want to hear.

Right, right,yeah
Were there matchmakers? Were there shamans involved?
Yes, thee were. There were professional matchmakers. Yes. It was a big

businessyeah
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DePue

Devine

DePue
Devine
DePue
Devine

DePue

Devine

DePue

Devine

Once a manrad woman got marriedjid they move out of theome?

No. Before marriage, generallyefore 1950s, men and women, they were

matched Then evenup tothe wedding daythey were not allowed to see each

other. Only the matchmaker would have sd#erboth bride and the groom.

So, typically, the bride and groom did not see each other until wedding day.

On the wedding day, the groom could look at the fadl@bride but the

brideds eyes were glued down with hone
dayso t hat she doesno(laughsiTheystaoi dp,e efkOha,t it
bride did that, peekéesdshadidnotses hig,r oom, i
typically, until the wedding night, untilthe guywowdi sr obe her . Tha
when she saw him for the first timéhat was the procedure they went

through.

Then, your question about where they lived. Patriarchal society means
the womarwouldcome intothema 6 s h o u s e Sheavouldibacemet her e .
his family member. Her identityas the member of her own native home and
family, is just totally obliteratedSo, she is not even allowed to go back home
to visit, for years on endT'he motheiin-law would hold tle right to give
permissionwhen she could go back and visit. If she could do it once a year,
sheds lucky.

Did she take the husbanddés family name
Actually, she kept her family name.

Butthechildrent ok t he fat her 6s name.

The children all took the fatherdds nan

What was the relationship, the expectatj@mout caring for the parents of
your husband? Wakerean expectation that this bride would be expected to
take care of her paresit

Absolutely, hundredpercent submissigmundredpercent submission to the
wills of the motherin-law, fatherin-law, the sistersn-law, brothersin-law.
All those inlaws were her new boss

How about some other aspects of Confucianisfginderstanding jgher e 6 s
very strong emphasis on education and on your status in society. Is that
accurate?

Yes, yes. Education is the key to succémsmen.They had this entrance
exam system for government officials. People wanting to vimrkhe
government, they had to take these very, difficult exams.They had
different types of exams, depending on what level of government service a
person aspired to have. Seah the government entranaamployment

exams are very, vegythe basiaore of Confucian society.
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DePue But strictly for men. Education was just for the men.

Devine Education was for men.

DePue Okay.

Devine There were some educated women. But they were caset the father or

grandfather or uncle took pity on somengde members of the family, they
would unofficially teach therhow to read Chines&o, there were some
educated women. But they did not go to any official schools. The schools
where boys and emwent to,were calledsuhdang

Suhdangsirre Confucian acadees, set up hygenerally former,
retired government officials. They would retire and then cpgtdang
academieswvhere they would teacjoungsters the education needed.

DePue When you first started talking about your adoptive paré¢htaigh, yousaid
your father was illiterateY our mother had a thirgjrade education and
basically taught him how to read.

Devine Yes, yes.
DePue Soi snét that contrary to what youdve |
Devine Well, the literacy level of Korealuring the Jagnese occupatiowas very

low. So, especially in the countryside, there were tons and tons and tons of
illiterate males and females. Thateracy rate among females would be
almosthundredpercent, ninetyfive or something. But among men {abe

illiterate people was very substantial percentage of the population, because not
every family could afford to send their childrensithdang which charged

tuition. So,that reflected the poverty of these lowevel people. They just

had no money to send chiér to school, whether they are boys or girls.

DePue Soeven though Confucianism very strong
mean there were opportunities for people?

Devine Yes right. No equal opportunities, ndhat wasavery elitist philosophy and
for anelitist society.

DePue Therebs one other religion that | thin
and t hat 6 sNor@dlly peaspte might be tsuyprised, but Christian
missionaries had been active in Korea for decades.

Devine Oh, yes.

DePue Before you were born even.
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Devine

DePue

Devine

DePue

Devine

DePue

Yes, yes. Christianity came i n,but889. I
|l believe 1t06s i n 1Na8e Ricci, ckhemshortlyCat hol i
after that, Protestant missionaries started coming in.

So, this is a very iteresting question, Mark. Christianity just spread
like wildfire in Korean society. Christianity came to China first, before it
came into Koregof course Matteo Ricci and Xavier thosepeople came
through China. Japan also receivessionariestoo.

But, both Chinese and Japanese,fibecentage of their population
converting to Christianity is pretty low compared to Korea. YWorea now
has people claiming themselves to be Christians orusaadike35%
whereas iha&lsf noft telvaetn i n China and Jap
guestion Why is that? Why did Koreans go wild over Christianity? But
Christianity certainly, once they came and took roots, both Catholic and
Protestant, thelgadjust thoroughly, completely importaimhpact on Korean
society in changing the Korean society

For example, they advocated against drinkiigavy drinking used to
be the major cause of domestic violermgainst womerespecially against
children So, their prohibition against alcoholismati a tremendous impact on
changing Korean societfor the betterAlso, they advocated equal
opportunities for men and womeso that changed a lot of Korean women a
lot, too, and education, sending a lot of Korean youngsters to other countries
to study &road. That also had beneficial impact on changing Korean society
and modernizing it.

You asked a r het or i c asuchagtioegsrtimpaatm |, A Wh 'y
Korea than China and Japan?0 Do you ha

A lot of people hae theories on that. One, the dissatisfaction level of Korean
people. Their dissatisfdon with the governmentyi Dynasty the Confucian
society the povertythe class separation. The rich class and poor class
separation was very dramatically distiraid the poverty Peoplein the

lower class were just, just totally unhapfg, the dissatisfaction level @f
majority or large percentage of the population, some people think this is one
of the reasons they turned to Christianity, which promised hop&a#hand
afterlife, happiness in the afterlifend belief that God loved all people, men
or women or poor or rich. This philosophy appealed to them.

Was your faniy involved with Christianity when you were growing up?

No, not while | wasgrowing up. | was the first one to convert to Catholicism
in my adoptive familyShortly after thatmy mom became a Cathalic

Il think webre a |ljatdtdm dpendhrgdamnmfawhh
time talking aboutessentiallythe natue of Korean culture and society. But |
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Devine

DePue

Devine

DePue
Devine
DePue

Devine

DePue
Devine
DePue

Devine

DePue

Devine

DePue:

Devine
DePue
Devine

DePue

donodt think we understand the rest of
framework to work with.

Right.

Tell me what it was liké thisis an unfair questiah the Korean War staris
June twentyfifth, 1950. Yau 6 r e seven years ol d at t he
remember about your lifgrowing up in Seoulprior to the war beginning?

Um hmm prior to the war beginning, our neighborhood was a very dimste
neighborhood, very good relationsiiggmong neghbors.

Where in Seoul were you living?

Where in Seo®@Mun Wha Dong.

| 6ve got a mhy hekeedibst Seow! | dondt Kk
Yeah | donodét think it shows onitht hi s mar
other neighborhoods, and nameschanjedd on o6t t hink | 61 | b €
it,butl can roughly tell Thereuarefolurtgalesinnear t
Seoul: Nortld

These are all frorthe Yi Dynasty time period?
Yes, yseusheastkectidrsof Seoul.

Saq are they on the southern side of the Han River?

No, itdéds north side of Han River, by E
small.

Wel | |, | 6ve got another. ThThereweggo.a | ar g
Seoul i's here. Whereverlwbud@stEast Gat e

tentatively put my X right here.

Now webre |l ooking at a contemporary ma
eight million people. Back in 19500w large wold Seoul be?

Oh myé
Maybe half a million or so?
No, no, | dondét have that figure.

Okay. Obviouslymuch smallet han t oday. I dondt mean
in being that specific. What do you remember about the house thavgdu
in?
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Devine

DePue

Devine

DePue
Devine
DePue
Devine

DePue

Devine
DePue

Devine

DePue

Devine

DePue

Oh, the house was very typic&lorean workingclass type of a house. The
roof was tile roof. And it had a layauypical layout was like thishere is the
kitchen and here is the mothierlaw room.

A

Basically a sdieided up mtg tifteerentamd. i t 0

Yes.Then across fromthawvoul d be t he s,okay?Bhend wi f ed

here is a guest rogrand here is the bathroomand the gate would be like
here, the entryway.

Now youodre dr awarongrodf?(hi s, is this und
Yes.

Butis itd .

This is all one roof.

Sa the bathroom would be insider is there a courtyard that the bathraom
in?

Yes. This is the courtyard.
Sa there are rooms surrounding this ofaeea courtyard.

Yes. And there would be a little stardi nd of cel |l ar ., It
with lower level and upperlevdih t he | ower | evel it
vegetables and tomatoes and thiriggen on the upper level, which is a
platformd wide open, no railings or anythi@ghe platform is where they put
these jars okimchiand soy sauce amtbenjang, yellow bean pasteandgo-
chi-jang, red bean past&o, this was sauce stan@ihe faucet would be right
here, close to the kitcheAnd this is what they catharu And this is a

wooden floor. This i&

Between a couple of the main rooms.

Yes. This is the wooden f | oolhedooand i
into the bedroom is off of here, and the door into trdom here is from

here Sq this is open living room spac&he bedrooms haoihdol Ondol

means ito6s a war med f | .oleheatthidrbosfroth!| oor
the kitche® you know, you would be cooking thingjsandthe heat from the

fire fromthe kitchenwould go through flues thareunder the floorThere

would be chimney here, and the heat travels under subfloor flues and travel

out the chimneySo, the floor itself gets very warm.

The fire is charcoadr wood 0B
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Devine Wood wood At that time After the Korean Warthe coal briquettes became
popular. But, befa Korean War, there were no briquettes.

DePue Was there any electricity before the war?

Devine Yes. Yes.

DePue: You did have electricity théh

Devine We did have electrity.

DePue Would there be anything close to what we would consider as indoor

plumbing? A toile?

Devine No. No.
DePue Sa essentiallyin this courtyargdyou had a place to do your businesmsd then
that had to be pumped out occasionally?
Devine Yes, there were hondyucket people coming around, you knamd they
wouldd
DePue That 6s a wonder ful euphemism, isndét it
Devine Yes yes. Amaricans | know use tldshoneybucke person coming around,
and he would yell dhehevensbibldpewi bbclet, h
yeah come on in and take our, you know, (quietly) shit. (both laugh)
DePue But your family would have been considered working class or lower middle
class?
Devine Working, working, low, low middle class.
DePue Were there very distinaelineations between various classes?
Devine Yes, yes. Confucian society, the 600 years of Yi Dynasag extremely
stratifiedsociety. Class distinctions were totally distinct and enforceable.
DePue By law?
Devine Yes, and intermarriages betweerssks were either forbidden by law atr

least looked down upon or discouragéte lowest class were people like
butchers and prostitutead artists Artistsbelonged to the lower group.

DePue Il téds an int eutecheys i Ng grouping
Devine Butchers, m hmm. Tannergheywered
DePue Butchers and tanners and artists all require quite a bit of skill to dgdhsir
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Devine
DePue

Devine

DePue

Devine

DePue:
Devine:
DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:
DePue:

Devine:

| know, | know.

Interview # IMFA-L-2013071

But those are even lower than your average fa&?mer

Right. Then the next level upwere farmers antherchants. Merchants were
considered pretty loytoo. In Confucian societynerchants and farmers, they
are pretty lowEven lower than thosare tanners and butchers and
prostitutes andartists were kind of in between farmers and the lowest class.

Artists are pretty low, tod.hen there were the government officials, low
ranking government official]and their familiesThen higher ranking, etc.

Yes.

Sa by 195Q those lines, 1 would think, began to blur a little. Bt your
father, being atuck driver, you said?

Um hmm.

Did he work for the government or was it private contractor?

City, the city of Seoulcity government.

What is your earliest memory?

The earliest memo#gy the earliest memory is all theadults[makes
whispering soundslalking in low voices about some trouble, which involved

the coming of thenistress to bear a male child for my father. The adults were

unhappy and | sensed that it had to do with my being a girl and the family

needingaboy. My mother, especially, being unhappy.

But, my memories also have happy memories of eating special foods
my mother was famous for preparing. She was a wonderful cook, and so she

was famous foit in the neighborhood.

't pr obabl yshesihat inabtrotus wobleérecdgnize, whatwere
some of your favorite dishegrowing up?

Okay. Favorite dishespandu Manduis dumplings

|l t 6s

|l t 6s

soybean beansprouts, batingbeanbears pr out s .

essentially

a Chi

nese dumpling, i

, lsui Cimimekegput differenngredients into thetuffing. Korean
stuffing is totally differentTypical Korean stuffing is beansprouts, not the

T he Alsod s

tofu, mashed tofuotsof green oniorand ®metime some choppegb kimchi
gets in there. Byif you put inkimchi
Sao manduwas my favorite. | could just eat twenty or thirty of thogmth

laugh
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DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

You already suggested thereoOmistrepaii t e a
Can you go into that for us?

The mistress. San situations like this, when husband and wife do not

produce a male child, in Confucian patriarcéatiety, because the blood line
goes down by the male blood, and also becaidbat tne, there were no

Social Security or welfarsystens set up for aging parents and grandparents,

it was deemed that a male child was necessary to carry down the family name
and also to take care of the grandparents and parents in their old age.

But anotheimportant reason why they needed a boy has to do with
Confucianismand belief in afterlife. Confucianism is a philosopayn d s o it 0 ¢
not a religion that deals with the after|ifait they do have ancestral
ceremonies required. Confucians required thdlfesrto offer ancester
worship ceremonieseveral times a yeador each dead ancestan the day
of the ancestordos dealNew ¥edros Hew Ke
Thanksgiving, which i€huseokSo, for each dead ancestoney needed to
offer at kast three ancestral ceremonesd youhad to do this for three
generations of dead ancestors, iSgou had twelve dead ancestérdead for
three generatiodsand you had to do it three times a year for gticla t 6 s
thirty-six times.So,t h at 0 s hraevaecestraj eorship ceremonies per
month that the daughtém-law had to prepardugef east . And it 6s &
midnight ritual. The women would slave themselves over this all day, maybe
several days. But men are the only ones who cooffdat the food ad drinks
to dead ancestors and do the bowing. Women were not allowed to be part of
this process.

Was there the gravesite? Is that where this occurred?

Graveside thing is for Thanksgiving ti
Day time theywould go to the gravesite to do But other timesthey do it at
home, at midnight.

Without having a male descendant to offer these ceremonies, the dead
ancestorso6 spirits would staAndje. They
with the ancestors beingesved, they would not be able to give blessings,
pour blessings on the descendahexause they are starviigh ey 6 r e unhap

What happens to the food, then? The food is nhot consumed?

Oh, it is consumedAfter the bowing and offering dhe wine, the family all
gather around and eat the food.

Good! (both laugh)

That was my favorite part.
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DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

But this sounds I|li ke itdéds not just Con
Confucianism and a lot of the folk beliefsthaty 6 ve t al ked about

Yes they are that

Or maybe Buddhispbecauséd would have thought that a lot of these
religious ceremonies would have been tied more closely to Buddhist
traditions.

Yes Buddhists certainly believeineftr | i fe. But they didnot
believe in the dead ancestors having to be fattened up with these huge feasts

SO many times a year. They believed in people coming to the temple and

making offerings of money to the temple and lighting incembat wagheir

kind of showing respect to dead ancest
feaststhree times a yeaper every dead ancestfor three generations.

Okay. So thatodéds why you had to have a
Yes, only male could do this ceneny.
So thentell us more abouhe traditions that developed about mistresses.

Okay. S@ my parents, not having a male child to offer this thing, my father

and mother apparentlyEven though they just saw each other the afatheir

weddirgé Actually my father very much wanted to see her before the

wedding, and he snuck around, hung around her neighbgraondde did
takeapekatherfomoehi nd t he fence. Thatodés wha

Soohe already | iked her . fllnlovehe did
with him. So, growing up, my strongest impression about my parents is
everybody said they were just such a loving, {streick coupleso, my father
apparently didndét necessarily want to

There were at least two ways of daglwith this mistress situation.
One he could have set her up outside the home somewhere, a separate
household, and paid her expend&fien a child was born, especially if it was
a boy, he could have just brought the boy in the house and given the boy to
my mother My mother and father would have raised him, and the mistress
would be forgotten. Okay? Thatds one s

The other is bringing her into the houard when the children were
born they would communally raise the children togethemy parerda 6 ,c a s e
because my mother hacdand this is the whole story of the novel, why this
became necess&ymy mother had a sistawho was a winéhouse woman
and shé

Which means she ran a tavesomethinglike a tavern?
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Devine: Yeah,an employee of aavern.Women working in tavern®ften they took in
male customers for paghe often became a mistress to rich man who was just
fooling around for furor who was looking for a mistress to bear a male child
for him and his wife.

So, my mother had asistern a potenti alandsostr esso
my mot her didndét want to make a mistre
outside, and when the boy child was hdear the child away from the

woman and forget the woman. She thought that would be like tleengame

thing to her own sister. Her own sister bore a male child for a rich company

boss, and he took the child away from her and gave him to his wife.

DePue: What happened that she never had a marriage arranged for her? Do you
know?
Devine: She was bediful, and she was fufoving woman.She just fell in love with a

guy who happened to be a married guy, and she got pregnant and had a child
out of wedlock When a woman gets into thsituation, respectful marriage is

out of the question. Her life justemt downhill from that pointSo, this

cousir® who is a prominent figure in my noelis the outof-wedlock child

born to my aunt. And sany mother did not want to have her husband fool
around somewhere, tear the child away and bring the child into the, hous
becauséier own sister went through that heartache.

DePue: How old were you when this decision was being made and the whispers were
going or?
Devine: | think | was about five.
DePue: Did you understand at the time what was going on?
Devine: No.
DePue: But there had to be a moment in time w

living in the household

Devine: Right, right,yeah Sq by the time she cameéthink | was six, six and a half,
just a year before Korean War broke out. | was maybesandenlythis
woman was coming irMy mother was extremely unhap@hecried a lot
and everything. Sd knew this was just not a good thing happening in the
house.Theday the mistress came, that day my mother spent all day cooking
foodto welcome the woman, evémough, this woman was coming as a
mistress. As a first wifat was her duty, Confucian dutio be good to the
mistress and welcome her into the house.

DePue: This is her own sistehough right?
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Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

No, no, no. Her own sister had a separatenlité a rich man, and she lost her
son to that rich man and his wife. That already happélitad.is a mistress
coming to |live with my father. Thatos

Okay.

|l brought out my mot herds stiestd er case,
decided to bring thevoman into the house, instead of keeping her outside and

then tearing the child away fromhée cause t hat happened t
sister, who lost the child.

Did either your mother or father know the mistress beforenstsebrought
into the family?

Yes, yes. My father at least met h&/hether my mother also met her or not,
|l 6m not sure.

Was this another one of these arranged situations?

It probably was arranged, yéo tell you the truth, Ireall dondét know wt
this woman became a mistress, ®ben | wrote this novel, | had to
fictionalize that part.

In real life | asked herThisis like ten years ago, when | was working

onthebooki asked her, AWhy did you become
weret he circuBmstwocledrPdt answer me . | t n
uncomfortableSo,s he di dnoét answer fBeintheand | di
book I fictionalized it, an d | used somebodyhatelese ds st

was married when she was very ygufifteen, sixteenseventeen year qld
marrying an equallysameage groom. | heard of a woman who married, sight
unseenof course, and on the wedding nighgheapparently had some kind

of a defect in her leg or thigh or butt or somewh#rerewas a khige hole
gouged out area or somethjsgmekind of physical defeé& thegroom in

the darkwas groping her, and when he felt this weird kind of a tHiegust
freaked out angust bolted out of the roonHe just never came back, without
the marriage begnconsummatedso, then she was just sent back to her home.

Now youw rsaying this is in the book?

Yes, itds in the book, but i1itbés a stor
mi stress who ¢ ameButfbecausglcduldit h gred s ttheu g e
story from he® why she came asamistrdé&ss bor rowed somebody
story, and gave it to her.

How did it work out? Did she bear a sfom your father?

Yes.
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DePue: Did that occur before the start of the Korean War?

Devine: No. She became pregnaand then the Korean War broke out, 8aring the
Korean Waythe boy was born.

DePue: Now,youdve already talked ®btbinktaskeddt chi n.
you this beford whatwere you feeling at the timebout all of thi®

Devine: Oh, | was just totally crushed. | was unhappy. | felt like crying. | felt like
talking and asking questions, but in Korehildren were to be seen and not
heard. You know, that was in this culture ;tobildren were not supposed to
speak up whendults were talkingSo, in Korea too, that was even more
strictly observedChildren were not allowed to interrupt adults and ask
guestions or anythingso, | heard these stories, and that made my mother
unhappy, and she was crying. But | just never éiskeesons or discussed it
or anything. | just kept it all to myseBomethingseriously bad and unhappy
was happening and that was because of me being not a boy.

DePue: Sa all these people who are telling you that you should have been a boy, you
intemalized thatand you felt very guilty.

Devine: Very guilty, very guilty. | was the so
DePue: Did they ever exhibit that to you, in the relationship you had with your two

parents?
Devine: No, no. | was never spankeat | was never chided. No. They totally,

completely loved me, which made me even nguidty. You know this

loving parents and loving husband and ywido were just totally in love with
each otherhaving to go through thi®iaving the woman come, you know.
And, because they were so lovingjust made my heart even heayiend

hurt more.
DePue: | wonderif you can sketch out the personaliBescribeyour father for me.
Devine: Okay. | brought a picture of him

in that packet, but he was a very - i "ISg
fun-loving person, a jokester. He ww
was always joking. For example, o
| have my forehead that sticks 1
out, and he would always tease

me, you know, A

going to find a good husband ‘
with that shape of a forehead? =
(laughs) Youdl |l never v ycas

good husband with thédrehead  Mmaija is pictured in her cap and gown,
of y ddawas atérrific guy, alongside her adoptive father.
very loving, warm, humecfilled
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man.So, that made it even hard@r meto feel | am the reason wthe is
going to be unhappy.tdarfully) This is why | felt like | just have to write
about this.

This man and jmmother, they were extremely loving people, in love
with each other, and they went through this ordeal. | wanted to show how
honorably, with how much affection for each other and consideration for the
mistressin their most difficult situationthey tried to be graceful, honorable
and treat the mistress with kindneshey would be this kind of peopl&hey
were common people. They were not elite class people. They were not
glamorous people, like spies, that novelists wouldbskdo write about. Not
manynovelists wrote about this commaitass peoplevhose hearts were in
good place

Theywere trying to obey the teachings of Confucianisven though
the teachings went against their own desire for personal happiness with each
other. They had to welcombi$ mistress. | just wanted the world to know
about these common peopiming through thikind of heartachend how
they met their challenges with honor and honesty and deeantcgrace.

DePue: How about your mother? How would you describe her?

Devine: Oh, shés one of those people whose formal education was limited, you know,
second or third grade. She had to quit schblek was during Japanese
occupation. She quit schoolhink, partly because they began to make her
speak in Japanese onlyiso, her family was very poor, and she needed to
help at homeThere werd he aunt 6s healing ceremoni .
ceremonies, she needed to help cook, things like that.

Anyway, even though her formal education was very limited, she is
one of the peopée thewisest person | know. She just has this common sense
and deep and very logical thinking abili§he could see situations and sort
things out right away and find some kind of solution that would be agreeable
to everybody concerned. She was that kind wéry enlightened perspwho
acted like she had a very high education. And she was respected by all family
members and neighboréeah she was a wonderful person.

DePue: Well, this has been an incredible revelationterms of the relationship that
your family had and the deep feeling that you had for them.

Devine: Yeah
DePue: Were you proud to be their daughter?
Devine: Yes,lwas.lwad. just dondt r e mssitihbneprouddorbg t i me

their daughterMy feelings were totally positiveAnd, when | discovered that
| was adopted, one of the things that | felt immediately, @hsthankGod
that | was adopted and received all this unconditional, IBven though
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di dndot knowarndIthoaght it awak allpnty &t that their ideal
life fell apart because of my not being a boy, because so much heartache
came from thatfor the rest of my life, y&h,for the rest of my lifel still felt
very fortunate to have had their unconditional love. Even after he got this
mistress, his love fame, there was just no change.

Earlier, you asked how many children were born to the mistress. She
went on and had four boys and one girl, Szave four boys and one girl on
t hat side and me.Theh bonany Bidogicalise lmdé r @#a&s o0 k
three full-blood brothers, older one, twin and youngeronetSoeat 6 s s i x, [
threet hat 6s nine, okay?

Then my birth parents divorcedfter my younger brother was born
and my lawyer father remarriedHe and the second wife had three children
two girlsand one boy. S@dd three to nine here. | am one of twelve siblings.

DePue: I woul dndét wa nytosketch that amily tbee. gbh laugh) 1ot r
candét remember now what | was going to
here in a little bit.

We ré getting to the poinfhen the Korean War begins. Again, was
there any discussidhand youodore awfully young at t
that kind of thing in the first plaéebut were you hearing anything going on
about concerns about what might happeforeethat actually occurred?

Devine: Yes, yes. | do remember hearing whisperings, a lot of whispers. One incident
| remember quite distinctlypefore Korean War broke qus the man who
was responsible for bringing me from ManchugeSeoul and giving mto
his nephewSo, he is my grandfathemyf at her 6s uncl e. He <ca
it was very dark at night, close to midnigHte and my father went to a
nei g hb o raidsherdwereaghborhood men gathering there. It was in
the middle of the nighThey turned all the lights gffio candles, no electric
light or anything. And he, the grandfather, was doing something with a mirror
| think it was mirror.He was having the moonlight reflect against this glass or
mirror, and they were trying to geh @amage to show up in this thing.
Somehow that image was to tell them whether North Korea was going to
invade South, if there is a war happenwether South will win or North
will win . It, this image was supposed to teil @ $ortunetelling methoda
way of fortune telling.

In my bookl have the grandfather say, AT
f I owi n gThawhaelerthing became red, which means red is going to
wi n. But tparntbs If idandtnaknoumMkrewact |l y w
thattheywer e trying to tell whether therebo
DePue: What happened when the waegan? What happened to the family?
Devine: We stayed there. And the soldiers came through town.

28



Maija Rhee Devine Interview # IMA-L-2013071

DePue: The North Korearsoldiers

Devine: North Korean soldiers camtbroughtownl donoét really r ememl
clearly. So, to write this bookl interviewed a man, a professor at University
of Wyoming, to see if he had memories of the Korean Wawasmaybe a
few years older than mend he told me some things.

DePue: How old was your father?

Devine: When the Korean War broke out?

DePue: Yeah

Devine: Oh boy.

DePue: Was he beyond draftable age?

Devine: Yes, he was about thidfjve. He was beyond draftable age. Not only that

is a only male child in his famiJyor the third generation. This is another
reason why he had to have the mistreesausdh e di dndt ,have bro
whose child he could ado#o, he was exempt from going to war.

DePue: Did he retain his jojthen, during this time of North Korean oceatijpon?
Devine: Yes.
DePue: Do you think your life changed mugctiuring those few monthsvhen the

North Koreans occupied the South?

Devine: Yes it changedbecausemy parents, all the neighbors, everybody had to
attend thicommunistme e t i n g s ow Whetleoitnwastonc& axweek or
twice a week or every day. It was in the evening. They needed to attend the
communistmeetings. And children were required to go, too. I think there

mi ght have been once or twice when | d
out by thecommunistauthorities.So, there were things like this that changed
our life.

Another memory | have is my mother telingmef anybody you
know asks you what you ate for dinner, always bayley. fiWe ate barley
and bean sprout soimot white rice and red meabulgog meat for
example. | was not to tell the truth. Just darJey and bean sprout soup.

DePue: Why?

Devine: Because theybébre cheap. Barley is food
barley. They ate white rice, whidghthe standard food and the most expensive
kind of food.Beef was very rare and expensige eating beef ia luxury. So,
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even us, we had it only maybe once a month. Mostéyate vegetables and
fish and eggs.

DePue: So beforethe wary o u 6 d b @brag abpupwhat ou ate show that
youdre successful
Devine: Yeah, right.
DePue: Then after thecommunistcomeiny ou want ed t od show t hat
Devine: We had no rice in the house, becacsemunistsoldiers were coming around

and confiscatingice and other food itemsalso brass, any metal thindike
brass candlesticks @rChamber pots were brass, believe or, sotchamber
pots, they took those awggnd pots and pans. | guess they were making
weapons with those things.

DePue: What was goig on at these meetings tt@mmunistsnvere holding? Were
these indoctrination sessions?

Devine: Yes, indoctrination, what goa@mmunistsshould do and not do and what
they teach you.

DePue: What were your parents telling yowhen you got back home?

Devine: They were not telling me anything directly. But they were just talking among
themselves, the neighbors. You know, they were just very unh@ppy.
were very unsure about what this would all lead to.

Also, another thing | remembet geople were talkig about digging
hideouts, hiding holes, in case of invasion, further kind of attack. They built
sheltersln our house, too, under thisaruthat | showed youthe wooden
floor, we dug a hole underneath it, where my father could hide.

DePue: Was your faher or your parents at all political before the war?
Devine: No, totally apolitical.
DePue: Were there people in the neighborhood, young men in the neighbothabd

were being drafted by the North Koreans into their army?

Devine: Ummhm. And in some schuds, middle school was just in grade school, but
in middle schools and high schools, the North Korean Communist soldiers put
their camps thereso, middle school and high school students had a lot more
contact with the North Korean soldiefithey even rade the students do some
work, like piling the sandbags and things like that.

DePue: September 15t[195Q is an important day for Korean histopbe cause t hat 6
when the famoubichon landing occurred andjeneraDouglag MacArthur
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pulled another miracjaf you will. | know thatit was roughly the 27th of
September, then, that Seoul was liberated by the Americaddridrces,
both Army and Marines. Do you remember that?

Hmm, no. Interestingly, | do not have distinct memory of the street scenes o
adults jubilating.

You didnodét se&® any fighting at all/l
No.

Sothent he war goes at a completely diff
that the U.N. [United Nationsl or ces drive north. They
parallel. They continue to drive north. They get very close to the borders with
Manchuria, with ChinaActually, in a couple placethey reach th&'alu

River, which defines the bordérhen the Chinese come ,iat the end of

November. Do you remember hearing akibat, or were your parents

reacting to that?

e

A

Yes. Yes. When that happened, thatods w
evacuated.

Right at the timgearly when the Chinese come in?

|l tds either November o rdIlBEnambdanilEing It w
dead winter. I dondt know exactly why,
grandmot her , mmyygfardindiherragdsny mosher faredd. It

was only the three of ugetting on a train.

Sa this is your mother, her stepmothedarou.

No, her motherin-law.

Yes, excuse me, her motherl aw. That 6s what | meant.
My mother and her mothen-law and I.

What was the relationship between those two women?

Oh, they were very, very gopdery, verytight, yeah.My mother never

blamed her mothein-law for having pushed my father to get this mistress,

because my mother knew it was her mother a w6 s r esapansi bi |l it
Confucian womajto make sure her son would produce a male cBite

w a s n @nd thattmke mean to her.

Sq go ahead and explain what happened then.

31



Maija Rhee Devine Interview # IMA-L-2013071

Devine:

DePue:
Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

So, for some reason, it was just me and my mother and her rotaer
getting on a train. Welljrst of all we walked a long, long distangedead of
winter. Therewas snow on the ground, ang grandmother, actuaky |

dondét know wher e she gvantercoatsof but she

American soldiers (chuckles)think my father just got it from black market
or something. And sgieah

We 6r e | a pidturemfyl thenkKorean refugees.
Yes.

And this is a famous picturep hereof the Han River Bridgafter it had
collapsed.

Yes, right. We tried to crosbefore this happene8o, yeah we crossed, and

my grandmother wasearing huge winter coat, military winter code

walked quite a long timél'here were planes goirighakes motor soundsyou
know, bombs dropping. And there were people who had mattresses over their
headsto see if that would protect them from the bigller bombing.

My mother, once in a while, just covered my eyes. | complained about
that, becauseAndshessacdul dddastsbael d
because her hands were full with things she was carr$ivegjust told me to
hold onto her ski and just walkThe reason sheovered my eye$ere and
there was to keep me from seeing people getting killed and falling on the
ground.

So, then we got to a train stop. It was not a station with a bagdit
was just out in the openons of peole, all waited, and finally a train came.
We got on the trairand the train was a series of box cars, no windows, no
bathrooms, no chairsio beds. It was just boxd2eople just threw their
bundles of rice cakes and whatever, sewing macéipesple evernook their
sewing machines with them. | think my mother did (laughs). Some people had
chamber pots, too.

But a sewing machine might be a livelihg@dhere you ended up.

Yes, yes, yesso, | think my mom took her sewing machir®, we put d the
bundleson the floor of the boxcaand we just climbed and sat on top of these
things or leaned against fthe door closed, and it was pitch dark.

We just rattled alongand then, every so often, the train would stop.
Then the door would operand people would just pour out and go to the
fields to do their, you know, go bathroom. | do remember having to do
number two numberone? Which is number two?

Well, thatés the big job.
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The big job. | had to do tha®f courset h e r e 0 spaperdo wipe with,

and we had to pluck some leaves to do the wipingljogmember feeling

very unhappybecause it just left a smell on my haMly mothed because |
was unhappy about that sn@ekhe poured some rice drink, boiled water with
rice in it, andthat mademy hands stink mordecause the water was spoiled.

So, anyway, itdéds just a smal/l kind of

But, my mother ran to the nearest farmhouse to find some food,
because we had rice cake in one of those buraliethere were fifty, sixty
burdles allpiledand we just ¢ oultdfindthe fopdSo, t o
she rarto closest farmhouse, and she came back with samgekbap you
know, the ricemixed with barleythat you kind of make into a little ball, rice
ball? She brought thesand we ate that

Il think it took at | east two days.

us to go down from Seotd Masan. Masan is near Pusan.

What do you know abouitow you got separated from your father and
apparentlythe mistress?

I dondt k n olywguesd thatshermight hiasve beem wisiting her

family, and my father went to get hély father might have told my motteer

Il kind of imagined it and fictional.
happened, e v ¢hundted perceggre. I tlinknmynfather told

my mothertop A Get qas sobrhas possihleecanse the bridge is

goi ng t o,hdserd lrekon first, $/le he went to get the second wife,

the mistress.

| thought she was living witkiou at time.

Yeah but myé 1 think thisis what happened. | think the mistress went to visit
her par e gewedtthbre, ansl my father went to get fiden my

father told my mother, AJust go ahead

bridgemayc ol | a p s e 8onny maothemn to praectane and the
motherin-law, she went ahead of him.

Would it be typical that your mother would have known more details of the
story, but not told you?

That 6s p oBstd netel aked heyabaut that, why we were separated.
But we found each othedown in Masan.

Oh, you linked up with your fathexgairé and the mistress?

Yes. I dondt know how té afterawhlegppened,
t hough. It wasndét right awa

It was weeks or months afterward?
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Devine: Weeks and monthgeah | need to tell you an interesting story. When we got
there, in Masan, there was a shopping cemth these stalls set up.
Apparently it was going to be a shopping akeith all these stalls for
different merchantsselling different thingsbut they were empty at that time.
So, we were all told to take one of these stalls.

We put our bed sheets for privaand it was warmer therbecause
Itds sout h. | rgbtmey mbnesayng tdings. Omghe t he nii
would snore, like she never did before. She was not really sleeping, but she
would snorelike a man. She thought there may be some bandits roaming
around there, trying to rob these poor refugees from Seoul or somebjng.
she carried out a ongerson actduring the wholenight. She snored to make it
sound like my father was in that boo8ie would snore like a man, and then
she would say, A Mailj ad i ddnoonto tk nt oowu cwhh et rhea
was, but she did thill night, to keep the robbers away. This is what | mean.
Shejuste How did she think to do that? You
resourceful person.

DePue: When it comes to a matter of survival.

Devine: Yeah yeah

DePue: What youodr e de s ainmadinelistgning tayod, and wlattl | ¢ a
know, this was a society in total cha@s the time.

Devine: Yes,totally.

DePue: It also sounds liké from your description®f what was going o the

Communistsvere pretty close to getting to occupying Seoul.
Devine: Yes.

DePue: Sa that happenedt took about a month and a half to get to the point, from
the time that they launched the offensive in northern Kareaas | think,
early Januarywhen they finally were knocking on the door of Sedself.

Devine: Right, yeah By that time, we were down in the south.

DePue: Youdbve kind of given us a goodresense O
little, sevenyearold girl, going throughat the time?

Devine: [Sighs]Yeah just bewilderment and uneasy feelinghe stomach. But | had
nobody to talk to who was my age. | was growing up as an only child, and |
was only listening to adults, their worries and fehtsiderstood everything
they were saying, and it was making me uneasy and fearful, what may be
happeing.
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The walk through snoswovered ground was no fun. It was very, very
codThe train ride was really traupumati c.
wecoul dnodot ,é&ndwehadnabathrooangThere was no light; it was
pitch dark in thergwith people just completely filling the whole boxcar. |
understand that now,
later, in reading books
therewere people who
were sitting on top of
these boxcars, and there
were people hanging onta
the outside of the closed
doors.Many of them just
froze to deatland
dropped off the train.

Why Masan? Do you

know?
Maija, age eight (left) and her cousin, age five, on

Masan. We didndét have any
relatives there or friends there. Maybe there was a friend. | kmpmother
onedayt ook me to her fr i egradqiidwhblesalese. She

business, and her little apartment was just filEohost to the ceilingwith

dry squids, which is my favoritéboth laugh | thoughtt 6 d di ed and we
heaven. (bth laugh)Soomay be t hat és why they went t
that connection to this friend.

Do you remember the moment when you reconnected with your father?

Oh, |l 6m sure it was | uésltvastveeyrafraidthatc, y o u
| might not see him agasndd

Prior to that time, do yoknow how your mom managed to keep the three of
you fed?

Yes. She decidéd Well, in the neighborhood, Masan was fairly quiet
because the battlefields were quite a ways away. The Pusan perimeter, and it
was pushing up, so thmttlefrontline was moing away.

Looking at the map, this might have always been within the Pusan perimeter.
So, in other words, always been under United Nations and South Korean
control but pretty close to the linevhere the North Koreans were. But |
suspect that Pusaitself, would have been such alhof activity, because that
was he port wherehips wereoning in.

Yes, yesWe visited Pusanalphb ecause my aunt ogthemy cous.i
child born out of wedloak my cousincame to live with us in Masan, tolder
mother, my aunt, was living in Pusan., 8aring vacation, especially, my

35



Maija Rhee Devine Interview # IMA-L-2013071

DePue:
Devine:
DePue:
Devine:
DePue:
Devine:
DePue:
Devine:
DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

mom used to put me and my cousirMy cousin is three years younger than
me. Soif | was eight she was fiveSo, eight and fiveyear olds, she would
put the two of us on a bdiom Masan to Pusaduring vacation time.

So, we visited my auntWe stayed there for weeks at a tingeiring
summertimeand it was a lot of fun! That was just busy, busy kind of port
city, you know. We could see all these ships going in and out btiebsé
sound,[ makes s hi p,béhe shipsoandrthe fish mankdt]with fish all
jumpingand tons of people shoppiagd lots of restaurants, cheap food.

My aunt was a great cook, tasheworked for a wine house, very
traditional high-class wine buse with these kinds of rooflines and red and
colorful lanternsall lit up outside.

Is this the same aunt you were talking aldmefore?

Yes, yes.

Sa she made the journey souds well.

Yes.

We 6ve beensasnaydi nHgo wi Rdui ,catthée btrme® ans s ay
Pu-san, Pesan.

Why has it been rspelled now, to beB-u-s-a-n?

Il dondt know why they go through these

Just to confuse us westerners?

No, they made several attempts to make the Romanization consistent and easy
to do, etcSo, they went through several systeikCuneReischauer

systemwas one of theml'hen another and anotheso the spellings changed
justlike in Ching too. Pekingituse d t o be Peki ng, but

Again, what was your mother doindpough tod

Okay, | forgot to answer that. Sihere were several things at first. She helped
cook in the neighborhood. If somebody was having a sixtieth birthday, the
the whole neighborhood women would go there and cook for the padty

she would get paid a little biEhe also knit she was an expert knittego, she
would knit sweaters and hats for neighborhood people, and they would pay
her a little money. Sshe made some pocket money.

Is this knitting like what we would think pdvith the knitting needles and all?
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Devine: Yes, knitting needles. And she probably had some jewelry, gold rings or gold
this and thatthat she might have gotten from her p&seand for her birthday
or whatever. Soshe probably sold some of those things at first.

DePue: Was this a community primarily of refugees?

Devine: No. The first neighborhood where we lived was a small farming villagere
might have been some refugebst it was notma a r e @&onderitratéd dvish
refugees. They were kind of scattered in this villageemto a farming
village schogl provincial school, grade school.

So back to my mother making a living\fter she did some of thand
sold somegwelry she might have hashe ran out of money.hen what she
did was she opened a little roadside stand. We moved down to a larger
Masan. There is a@ld Masan andNew Masan. New Masan was bigger and
more industrialized. Old Masamas farming villageWe moved from Old
Masan to New Masan, where thereremore commercial activities going on.
There was a big markeghere were more customei&e moved there sthat
she could open a I|little roadside stand
crate empty apple crateand put some Marlboro cigarettes she got from black
market and Wrigley Chewing Gum and some applesaguin, this huge
mounds of dried squid that she got from her frjamdo was selling these
wholesale teshops.So, she openedthisi t t | e roadsi de stand,
she made just enough money to keep us ,alingl we got reunited with my

father.
DePue: How did life change after that?
Devine: After then, the boy was born there in Masan.
DePue: And now youobve O6gotseae,f amirleye ogfi,r Ilset y o

and the baby boy. $Seix all together.

Devine: Yeah but during Masan days, my mother and | had a sepétéeerented
room My grandmother, after we found my father and the mistress, she went
to live withthe father and the mistre€3kay? They had a little rented room.
So we had two separate rented rooms.

DePue: Were they adjacent to each other?

Devine: No.They were quite a waydtwaswalkihgndét Kknow
distance or we had to take a bligt we were in the same town. But we had
two different rented spaces.

DePue: Was there a reaspother than just out of total necessitlyat the family was
split up?
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Devine: Yeah,lecause we coul dnot find a whole holt
and temporarily we just had two different rented roormidien, after the war
ended, we came back to the old house.

DePue: Was your father, though, providing for all of you?

Devine: Umhmm.

DePue: What was he doing during that time?

Devine: Just being a truckriver at that timetoo.You kno w, Il &dm just no
was draftedanyway. In my booK fictionalizedit] 6 m not sure i f t

happened. | had him draftdoecausgby that time South Korean army was so
desperate for men that they wiped dleaemptions, like him being the only
boy in the family for third generation. All that got wiped out, and they just
grabbed anybody they could. Sdahink he was grabbed and had to be a truck
driver for the army.

DePue: But having that particular skjlbefore the warwould have been very valuable
to the Korean Armyl would think.

Devine: Yes, exactly. Sal think he supplied you know, he ran a supply truck for the
army.
DePue: And if he was drafted into the army, that probably was the thing thahkapt
out of the frontlines.
Devine: Yes, thatodés right.
DePue: Sot he family wasnét totally destitute
Devine: No, no.
DePue: Well, what was your life like then?
Devine: But, you know, there were times beféréthink this was before we were

reuntedd my mother was still trying to make a living for me and my cousin
and my grandmother. She decided téfter she quit running the roadside
stand, she went to Chinju. Chinju is also here. CBinju

DePue: Here is Chongju. . .
Devine: Chinju isjust rightaroundhere.She went to Chinju market, and she sold
fabri c, Il think. And this was far enou

and come home every night. And, Boiy grandmother was not therghe
must have gone to live with the mistress at that tleeause it was just me
and my cousin. My mother left the niyearold and sixyearold, or eight
yearold and fiveyearold, alone, and she went to this market to gefid she
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couldno6ét come back home every night.

maybeonce every two weeks.

So we were home ala me and my cousin, eight and five year old or
nine and six year okl We were home alone, cooking for ourselves, getting
ourselves to school and doing homework. | describe it in the book as the best,
happiestitne of my life. This is during the Korean War. People were
dropping dead everywhere. It is very, very traumatic time for the whole nation
and for many citizensspecially children, because 200,000 Korean boys and
girls became orphanduring the Korean WaBut here | was, with my cousin,

my mo mo.8lo momdiyoesr e telling me, AO0Oh, you

boy. 06 No nei gh bbecausethey wede toa Wwasriedt abotuthihie s
war and who was returning dead or half dead or blind or without arm and leg

So,theydi dndt pay att ent iThahaloheavastheaven.e i n g

There was a boy who was very interested in me, you know, in the new
neighborhoodThe boy¥ and | had other friends too, girls and bowe
would play in the stream, wade in deare feetOne daya leech began to eat
away betweer my big toe and the second t&¢hen | discovered it, | just
screamed, and all the kids just ran ayayg. But not this boy. He stuck

N

aroundandidonot know he diedhoffdfnewlthout he 00
leaving a piece of it inside nflesh.Th at 6 s t aughdogdthery e . ( |

Your hero!

Yeah And another time we wedt

But you were just eight or nine?years

Yes, yesThat was ot too early for meHa! HaD! It was fun. And another
time,we went to a neighbordéds house to
dropping, you know, all these orange things, juicy thifidie whole bunch of

us went in there, and suddenly this boy justyanked away. | sai d,

stopt h aWhat e saw washere was a snakbiding under these
persimmon leaves that fell on the ground, I8saved mé&om the snake.

What kind of a snak&Do you know?

You know, Korea haél in that region, thererere some poisonous snakes, too.
And thatodos true | ove.

[

This is quite an adventure that youdre

Yes, another thing jsve used to catch grasshoppers in the rice fields that
were harvested in the falle would, you know, strinthese oraweed stem.

He would string a whole weed stem faflgrasshoppers and present that to

me asagift. Sove coul d roast It and eat it
love. (laughs)
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DePue:
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l dm not sure young Amer vedhanypregentedh s wo ul
string of grasshoppers to eat.

With grasshoppers, yes, ydtswas true love in Koreaat that time. Anyway,
for that reasont was fun.Another reason j$ was a city girl, growing up in
Seoul, which was a wonderful towout the parks were far away. We could
notjust walk therejust on our ownWe had to wait for parents to take us
there.There were riversvhere we could go swim, andgain, we had to wait
for weekendswhen parents could take us there.

But in Masan, wavere just smack (claps hands) in the middle of this
nature. Streams were there. There were persimmon trees, where wpicould
these thingsall the hills we could roam. And there were vegetables we could
dig up and make soups wijttiandelionsoups, for gample and sage All
these were just all new life to nf8o, for all these reasons, it was really the
happiest time of my life.

Also, this cousin who came to live with me, | was no longer a lonely
one, only child. I had a cousin to play wihe was a mschievous oneShe
knew all kinds of things thatshgou were
said,oh, such and such gave me this. He showed me how to do this. She
showed me how to wrap dry pumpkin leaves into newspaper and roll it up and
lick the seamand make cigarettehlttle cigaretteswith pumpkin leaves. After
dinnel® which cooked by ourselves, no mother, no father, no grandmother,
justbyourselveds he woul d s aySp wéwoeld sthake theseo k e . 0
(inhaling sound]ittle cigarettes.

Wait a minute. l snét this the cousin t
you?

Yes. She wadf | was nine, she was six. Andspearo | d woul d say, i
smoke. o

A six-yearold is teaching you how to smdke

Yes, yesFor all these reasons, oh man, that was a very happy life. | do have a

short storya memoir piece, essalgot published iMichigan Quarterly

Reviewthat deals with this storywhy Korean War was the happiest time of

my life.

Wel |, ever yt hdcribed sdfdmaa s ty opuedovpel edewoul d s
sheds just |living on the edge of cal an

(laughing) We were horrglones, you know, as eightine-yearolds and yet
| found that life just totally charmind@ he nature, open natyneas wondendl.
We were homalones, but we lived in a kind of walled complex, whitwere
was a landlord family, and there was another family wkoerenters.So,
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these were adults around us. If anything happened to us, you know, they
would have helped.

DePue: So the adults kind of looked out after everybody.

Devine: Yes, right.

DePue: You did mention that you were going to school at this time?

Devine: Yes, yes. We led a pretty normal life. | was third grade, and she was

kindergartengoing on to first grade.

DePue But | thought you had to pay to go to school.
Devine: ThisschooJl  d o n Olf theke vasememoneyto be paidit was pretty
low kind of tuition, and my mother, being completely education shs,
would have done everything to pay, whateveritwas.d ondét t hi nk it

high, because it was a country schabiight have been even free.

DePue: What wereyou learning in the school?

Devine: All subjects Korean language, history, math, social sciencettatwholé

DePue: Learned how to write

Devine: How to write.

DePue: Did either Japanese or Chinéseas that part od

Devine: Japanese gondapanese gone. After 1945 were freedWe were liberated.

DePue Is that to say that the last language you would want to learn would be
Japanese?

Devine: Right, right. Yah

DePue: How about Chinese?

Devine: Chinese we learned, yes, yes.

DePue: Chinese characteras welP

Devine: Yes, Chinese charactey®s all throughout grade school and middle school

and high school. S know Chinese.
DePue: Were you paying attentionat@éla gain youdbr eyoavhaving | v you

the adventure of yauifed were you paying attention at all to what was going
on in the war?
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Devine: You mean the political things, the casualty figures and all those things.
DePue: Yeah
Devine: We would hearon the radio, the announcers talking abobt,how Seoul was

retaken and samany people came out to the streets and waved their flags and
welcomed the U.N. troopsoming in and all those things. We would hear
thatonradios We di d n 0;twe \meee\p@or. Butheravdeie shops
where radios were sold, and they would have the radio turnexs apr

neighbors would have a little radio, that kind of thiSg, we heard about the

war all the timeAlso, there were songsewsangat thattimet hat 6 s patri o
songs and artommunist songs.

DePue: Sa you grew ugkind of absorbing all this antommunisd

Devine: Oh yes definitely. Also, when we went to movies, the previews were all-anti
communistpreviews. They were domentariesshowingNorth Korean bad
guys doing this and thatlso, there were previewshowing youvhat a
communist spy would look like, would behave like. You know, somebody
who looks very scary or who were wearing strafogeking shoes not seen in
Souh Korea, who didnét know how much bu
Korean accents. All thede

DePue: Was there an accent difference that you personally could tell?

Devine: Oh, definitely. North Koreans had very strong accanybody could tell
immediaely, once they opened their mouSio, there were KoreanSouth
Koreansliving in the north before the war broke oWe were just one
country, north and south. There was no distinct&mwhen the war broke
out and the thirtyeighth paralled Well, when the war broke odt

DePue: At the end of World War [lin 1945, part of the Potsdam Accord, | thimkas
the drawing of the line of the thirgighth paralled

Devine: Yes, exactly.

DePue: € and the agreement was that the Soviets can occupy the nordngrie

United Statesthe south

Devine: Yes, there was that line. Butavel back and forth was possipletil Korean
War broke outokay? So, there were lots of people living in the north. They
came down to the southcdopened businesses and thirapswe were very
familiar with people speaking North Korean acc&wfore the war, there was
no problem. We were not told to hold anything against them or report such
people to police. But during the Korean War, we were told to report those
people speaking with North Korean accents.

DePue: Is there any doubt in your mind that those were the bad guys?
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Ohyeah they were definitely bad guys. And we should report them to the
police and stay away from them.

| have to believethough a lot ofthose North Koreans were counting their
blessings that they were in the south and n@ammunistNorth Korea.

Yes, and spin the book, too, | go into this a lot. | show them people who

came down to the soutiefore the Korean War broke otlieybecame very

sensitive as the war wore gabout them coming from the noréhd people,

South Koreans, suspecting that they were commuidstshey were very,

very concerned about somebody snitching on them and turning them in to
police. So, they triedto hide their accent. They tried to speak loudly against

North Koreansto distinguishthem Eventhough they speak with North
Korean accent, theyore Soamnunidor eans
They maddhat very, very clearin their everyday relatimship with South

Koreans.

Did you see any South Korean soldiers during those years?
Oh yah yeah,veryoften. Very often.
How about the Americans other U.N. forces?

Ah, Americans, yes. In Masamy mother and | walked aistance to go and

draw water from a wellAnd one daywe were coming back with my mgm

with the water buckets filled with wataVe were coming down a hiloward

a train track, and there was a train stoppedas just filledwith Americans

and U.N. stdiersd bothwhite and blac& justcompletely filled. And there

were hundreds of childrejust climbing, trying to climb up to the windotw

beg for chocolatesand guith ey wer e goi ng, AnOh, G. I
chocolate; give me chocolaigive me,givemé 6 And t he G. | . s
smiling and laughingSome were giving them some gwand chocolate.

My mother and | kind of stood back. We had to cross the track, and
since the train was t Wejugkindaefetoodo ul dn
back, maybebout twenty feetawaWWe | ust wat ched. Il di
children and try to beg. We just stood there and watched.

| could sedthat] a soldier took his hat off, and he was passing that
around.Soldiers were putting some things inTthen he came taohe steps,
and he seemed to be motioning to me. He went like that. Armburset hat 6 s

N

W €

0
i d

t
r

the gesture that we ,(didomnmde [ilikomdago st and,

would be this way.
Would beéd

Koreans would go this way.
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That would dok like goodbyeto us.

Yeah.(laughs) Koreans would have made this kind of gestungate me to
come to himbut he was going this way.

With his hand upside down, bringing his fingers closer.

Yeah | didndt un daatraslmanmtherdwi hdant 6 tt hkant o wnei t
either. Sowe just stood there and watched the whole shbath{augh)

Finally, he just came down those stairs, the steps, and walked to me. | was

wearing a sweateandtwo pockets were theréle just poured all these

candies from his hatnto my pocketsHe r e 0 s slofwthed kide gibing,

A G e wme, give me chocolate and goandiG.I,.he |l | o, hell o. 06 An
passedthem all and came and put these things in my potketas the

weirdest thingwhy he would dohat butl was happyThat 6 s t he fir st
tasted American chocolatesnd, you know, | was very carefabt to eaieven

a whole one, not even a half a one, because | wanted it to last me a long, long

time. So, | ate just only a tiny little bit to tasiet . I asked my mom,
you think hé& o

After that, the soldiers, some of thestuck out their water bottle to
my mom.So, she poured water inthere, filled their water bottles with the
water from her bucketind some of them gave my mom some cejtegs.So,
there was a nice exchange there.

Later, | asked my mom fiy\dd the soldier give me all these
candie® &he thoughd well, because my mom was a knitter, and she had
knit me this very beautifldweater of red and greeandt hat 6 s a Chr i st
color to AmericansShe thoughtmaybe the soldieé Theway | was dressed
maybe reminded him of his daughter he left at homkaybe | reminded him
of, mayle, his baby sister or something, and he wantédBesides, | was not

begging so he just wanted to\g it to meSo,t hat 6 s when | deci d
going to America, where all these candies camomf (loth laugh) | know
where these came fr om. I &dm going there

Because the candies were made in America or because you liked e G.I.

| liked the G.I6s, too.Yeah they were friendly. They looked friendlJhey
were smiling and waving and giving things to kids, and it was a very fun day.

Did you like the chocolate?
Oh, man. It was really, really, really delicious.
The maries youweregoing tq were they made in Korea?

Yes, yes.
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Were thesgotherwise the typical plot lines for movies that you might expect?

Yes. A lot of them are, you know, family dramas, love stosappy,
sentimental.

It kind of surprises me that Korea would have had any kind of a movie
industry at that time.

Yes, they did.

What other storesdoyouhgteo t el | about the time du
woven such an amazing picture of all your experieraesnot what |
expected at &l what | would expect to hear, | should say.

Yeah,i t 6s ki nd of an ubecase kel mentioned, of war
200,000 kids lost their parents doelcane orphans. And many of them were

taken to orphanagglecaise no Korean family would take them in. You

know, Koreansdé attitude toward orphans
pick up justorphansvh ose bl ood | ine they didnot
very many people did that.

Is this another aspect of Giciard .

Yes, the blood lingtheir obsession with blood line having to be legiid has
to be a male blood lin&Vithout knowing whetheiin the blad line of that
personwhether phone ringkthere was leprosy [interruption of a phone
call] Excuse me.

We got interrupted by modern technol og
| suspect nobody had telephones.

No.

Il did want to say that [ 6ve innerviewe
many cases h er e 6 s ormectiop that theael guys had with the orphans
becausenany of the units and many of the individuals would kind of adopt an
orphanage that was close by.

Yes.
Go ahead.

|  k now YeshthetUdNsand American soldiers, many of tlelopted
Korean orphansSome of them, | thinkset up some orphanages, especially
with the help of some churches, Christian churcBeswhen all these
children were having such traumatic Jituring the KoreaWar, | had the
happiest life. @ughs)
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Do you remember when the war ended? That would have been July 27th,
1953. You would be ten years old.

Right . I really dondét r eme,pbbably how we
took a bus and just came back to our old neighborh©odold neighborhood

was not destroyed®ur neighbors all came back to8o, it was pretty much

back to the normal life that we had before the war.

| think this is probably the logical place for us to stop todden the next
sessionwe can pick up with whdife was like in Seoul and yogrowing up
and the school experiences you had for the next ten or fifteen years after that.

Okay.

| wanted to ask just one more question. About March or April of 1988 of

the things that had caused thario bog down for as long as it did was the
negotiations between the United Nations and the Chinese and North Koreans
aboutwhatto do with the communist prisoners.

Right.

There were tens of thousands of Chinesel especially North Korean
prisonerswho did not want to go back.

Right.

So, that dragged the whole process on. | thaibout March or April

Syngman Rhee just directed that they knew who the people who wanted to
stay in the soutlvere andthey felt pretty confidet. They just swung the
doors of the prison camps ogen

Yes.

€ andthese prisoners just pouredt,into the countryside. Do you remember
that occurring?

No.
Or getting messagesabpiitb e a | i ttl e biter@@drse car ef

No.l dondt have any nphestorewal gvenp lfonlytaterat par 't
onl earned about that. I know that thei
just kind of happy and proud of the f a
want to go bak to North Korea or even China, because Chinese were turning
communistsMany of the soldiers that came to fight in Korea were
NationalistsChineseThey di dndét want to Selwds up i n
very happy to hear that, you know,teés hey di dnét want t o ¢
they were given the chance to be absorbed bdkgh
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DePue: Tomorrow webOre going to talk about you
years Part of that story is going to include being in the United States in the
midst of the Vieka m War and al | of the turmoil t

just kind of setting up a .Hdowdidyu on f or
and the Korean people feel about the U.N. and the American soldiers
had fought in your war ithe 1950s?

Devine: As far as | know, the majoyitof South Koreans were totall¥p0%behind
U.N. and U.S. involvement in the war. Without their intervention in the
Korean War, they feel they would have been just wiped out, toSall\they
see U.N. and Aerican soldiers as their saviof$ieysaved their lives, and

they saved theircountre ven i f itds.only half a cot
DePue: Il think thatdés a pretty good way to en
Devine: Oh, youdre wel come.

(End of interview session #H#2 continuep
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DePue: Today is Friday, August 30, 2013

t he Co

. Toda

Maija Rhee Devine. Whad a fascinating discussion yesterday about growing

up. Weodbre back in the President.

from you and candét help but noti
about Harry S. Tr u nesbitlaterwihiok today.d did

want to kind of do some housecleaning and ask you a couple questions,

al Lib
ce the
get t
based

on our conversation since we ended yesterday. | heard you mention, at one

time, there wer@ and maybe this is a reflection of Confucian culturéher

society you grew up & there were seven sins that a woman could possibly

commit, that she should avoid.

Devine: Yes, right.

DePue: Tell us a little more about what those seven sins might be and what that was

actually about.

Devine: They were callecChil go ge ach. Chilé goé geé ach. Chil means the seven,
sevenGeach, the finalach means sins, bad things. Seven bad things a
woman could be abandoned from he
of them is, of course, not bearing a male child or angichdt being able to

r husb

bear children. Two, stealing. | know stealing is included there. Three, having

gossiping habit, gossiping behin
kind of thing. Fourth, having some kind of incurable dis@aléee at that

d peop

time, leprosy was considered incurable dis@aprosy, sexually transmitted

diseases and, oh, TB, tuberculosis, thosedAnd

DePue: So, instead of having sympathy, because you have an incurable disease,

youdre an outcast.
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Right. Outcast, yes. Also, sorkand of inherited traits, like mental illness was
considered, maybe, inherited trait. I
have t oéOh, I know, |l asciviousness, y O
was one of them, too. So, for any of these sevenanwe®man could be

abandoned.

What were the counterparts for the men?
There were none. Men could do no wrong. (laughs)

Okay, thatodés what | thought you woul d
you about: | d o n dough tme talkingtalboat howwoeir s p e nt
mother dealt with the scenario, the situation, of having this mistress come into

the household. What was her reaction to that?

She was totally brokenhearted about it, because she was very deeply in love

with my faher. And, apparently, my father felt the same way. These couples

are very rare, because, after all, marriages were arranged. Grooms and brides
married sight unseen. In very exceptional cases, the groom might have seen

the bride, maybe, a week before, whic was my f at her 6s case.
week or two before they got married, and he liked what he saw. So, my father

also was pretty brokenhearted about taking a mistress, which is very unusual

at that time. Men, usually, when they have to get mistresgstresses, they

were happy about it AfHey, good deal . o

In the book, you present the scenario that your mother, the mother figure in
the book, got desperately ill. She had a very strong physical reatian if?

Yes, yes.
Was thathe case in your family?

Yes, it was the case. Actually, the day the mistress came into the house to live
with them, my father could not really bear the idea of leaving his wife in one

room, go to a room next taditthree feet away with only ricepaper doors

between them and sleeping with another woman. So, at the last minute, before
he wal ked into that room, he got this
us sl eep together. o So, what happened
alwentinb my mot her 6s and fatherds r oom,
house. | slept with my grandma, across the hallway.

But, you know, this doesnwaysemmean t h
or something, as many American readers
havethreevay sex or somet hing?0 No, it was
just could not | eave my mother al one,

dressed in their daytime clothes, and they were lying down in the dark. This is
when my mother passed oubin the trauma of the day: cooking all day to
welcome this woman into the house, and her husband saying this very, very
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untraditional thing, suggesting this untraditional idea of the three of them

sleeping together. She had never heard any man suggéstingrid the

mistress never heard that either. It was a very unusual proposition that my

father made. And, during that night, from the strain of the evening, my mother
passed out. What | remember is, in the middle of the night, all of a sudden, the
lightsal | went on, and my grandmot her rus
mother was stretched out like a piece of log.

My father told the mistress, fAGo fe
So, she brought that and heéln Korea 't
to spray water on clothes you are ironing or whatever, you put some water
i nto your mouth, and you sprayed it ou
water into his mouth and sprayed that
face, to revive her. He also slagpher cheeks to help revive her. All this went
on that night.

She didndét die. She just became bed

how long? Inmy fiveyearo | d chi |l dds mind, it seemed
stayed in that state, but it could have beely one month. It could have been

t wo weeks. 1to6s not clear how | ong she
But | ong enough that 1 6m sure people t

liquid. She needs to have some food.

Yes and Chinese medicidector was called in. He prescribed this Chinese

medicine to be brewed in the room on a little portable stove. There was a clay

jar, typically used for boiling Chinese medicine, and it was boiled in her room.

So, the smell just went all over the whole sewand especially that room.

Neighbor women came to visit her, and they helped her sit up and-fgbon

this medicine, because my mother coul d

Didyouknowaboliyoudre only siX or seven at t
Right.

0 did you know what had caused her to become unconscious?

No, no.

You didndot find that out wuntil after wa
Right, only later.

eéabout twhyarrangemente

Yes, yes. I didnodt e vsepttodethar,mthefloat t he
Actually, it came from my cousin. My cousin heard that through other
relatives, older relatives.
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Is this the younger cousin you were spending so much time with?
Yes, my younger cousin. She was the source offisuthis story.
But not gossip.

Not gossip, no.

Well, the story you have continues to be amazing and a remarkable one, in so
di fferent ways. |In that r éd&gmemd, it so
the traditional Korean culterwould sa§ which should be happening.

Yes, it deviated a little bit, because
other was a little exceptional.

Did your mom, having some serious 1isSssu
y e ar oré thinkingytlmatusibe might be dying. Did that only deepen the
sense of guilt that you were having?

Oh, of course. Yes, yes. I was scared
was going to happen. Neighbor women were saying that was because of my
not being a boy. It was very, very difficult.

That 6s what they were telling you, whe

Yes, yes, every day. They came to see my mom every day. One or two

different ladies came and helped her sit up and take powidgedicine.

|l nvariably, one of them would say, i Oh
boy. o

That makes me think that these strong traditions you were being raised in
werenodt just something that was being
teachiy, but these were things, l i ke i n n
were passing on the culture.

Yes, exactly. That is an excellent point. Women also bought into the system.

And mo-in-law, théyseceived the same kind of cultural conditioning,

and they imposed these rules on their dauglitel@wy. Instead of trying to

make the daughtein-l awdés | ives a |little better ¢
under standing toward abused womenédés pl
by being even more strongestringent enforcers of the male, val&sed

principles. So, yes, you make an excellent observation.

Let6bs get back to where we were in the
the end of the war, and you come back to Seoul. Do you remembergaing
to Seoul, coming back to that life?
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Not the process of returning. | dono6t
again. That part, | do not remember. But, | do remember just being back in the

old house, same neighborhood, and old neighbousned too. So, there was

one family, especially, we were very, very close to, and they all came back.

Our life just continued.

Did you father return to the same job he had before?
Yes, yes.

How about your mother? She had beenforcedtd o s ome t hi ngs sh
doing before the war. Did she return to the role of being the dutiful
housewife?

Yes, she did. She was happy to go back to that old role, rather than being
outside and making money.

Thereds at | @uk Youbad at leashoaerbpther. Weré there
more at that time?

No. Just one brother, and he lived with us in the same house, of course.

How would you describe Sedukhe condition of the city of Seaulat the
time?

Yes. | saw a lobf buildings, office buildings, knocked down. There were just
walls; only some walls were left. Some schools were gone. So, mainly there
were tons of buildings around our neighborhood, just gone.

If I may quote Richard Underwood. The Underwood familyaver
Methodist missionaries to Korea, and the first Underwood, Horace
Underwood they all have same names, Horace H., Horace J., Horace this
and Horace that (laugltéss o | dondédt know exactly whe
or Horace H, but he came as a missionaryfandded Yonsei University.
Dick [Richard Underwood] is like thirdeneration Underwood or so, and
Dick mentioned, in one of these books
one of the interpreters, during tRanmunjomarmistice agreement process.
His olde brother, Horace Underwood, also Dick Underwood, they were
interpreters, and Dick Underwood said, in one of the Korean War books, that
when he returned to Seoul after the armistice agreement was signed, he was
standing on top of a jeep by South Gate. QlRmdaemunSouth Gate, and
he was |l ooking toward East Gate. So, t
there were hundreds and hundreds of tall buildings, office buildings and
schools. He said he could see, from South Gate, look at the East Gate. There
was nothing between. So, he could see the East Gate from South Gate,
standing on top of this jeep he was dr

And largely because Seoul changed hands, I think, four times, during the war.
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Devine: Yes. Several timeseveral times.

DePue: In pretty brutal combat, | think, most all of those times.

Devine: Right.

DePue: How about your neighborhood? | mean, the classic image that | have of that

timeframe are these oisory houses that are, in American terms, very
primitive. You talked about the riggaper walls in the first place.

Devine: Right, right.

DePue: | know, during the World War Il, the Japanese version of those kinds of
neighborhoods went up like tinderboxes.

Devine: Yes, yes. There were many, many neighborkdbdt just, just, yes, just like
tinderboxes, they just disappeared. B u
neighborhood of some pocketsé There we
survived, and ours was one of them.

DePue: How would you describe the relatiship that you had with the mistress?

Devine: We really lucked out, in the sense that she was also a very kind person. Her
heart was set in the right way, and she was a follower of Confucian teachings
for women, how to behave.

The Confucian teaching favomen is that they be submissive te in
laws, kind to all inlaw family members and neighbors. So, she was a good
woman, and so, my relationship became quite positive, especially during the
time my mot her was bedridden nadnd tadkwel d
me to my kindergarten or first grade, braid my hair and put clean clothes on
me and feeding me. The little mommy, the mistdeksalled her Little
Mommyo Little Mommy did all those things for me. She sometimes even
t ook me t o hereredldada&goddsinie. Tihey hasl beautiful h
flower garden, with moss roses and fl o
them there, and so it became a very positive relationship.

DePue: It sounds like you also got a chance to continue your love of nature.

Devine: Yes, yes. And the children, born to her and my father, | have very positive
relationships with them, too.

Butd this is importard in one of the chapters of my novéhe
Voices of Heaven talk about when the oldest boy reached a marriageable
age.He had terrible time marrying the woman he fell in love with, because,
even though Korean society, the Confucian values, insisted that men take
mistresses to produce male children, once male and female children were
born, they were discriminated againstsasondclass citizens. Upstanding
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families refused to give their daughters to sons born to mistresses. So, this

brother, my brother, fell in love with a woman, but her family refused to

approve that marriage. So, he became hopelessly depressed, betlaeise of
societyds discrimination against him a
basis of the fact that they born to, not the first wife, but the secondary wife or
mistress.

By the way, the mistressds name neyv
registry, e her . Now, all five children were
and my motherds name, as the mother of
Anyway, the brideb6s family refused to

that marriage was my mother. My mothas the first wife of this man, her
husband, stepped in there and asked to meet with the family, parents, of the
bride-to-be, the prospective bride. What my mother did is very extraordinary.

This is why | wrote the book, because this is the kind of peske
was. She didndét have to do a thing. Sh
child by the mistress at all. But she
parents, and said, AWhen the mistress
husbandododbeomee myt musbandds mistress,
She vouchsafed her virginity when she came.

The bridebés family was astounded. T
woman, who would do this kind of thing for the sake of the mistress and
mi st r es s Otker thahwas tdie or Mty wehether she was really a virgin
or not, there was no medical exam record or anything. But, just the fact that
my mot her was willing to step into the
chil dés marriage, ympmoesnsied ,t hiheybrsiad e
the child, the boy, grew up with this kind of mother, as the Big Mother, in
addition to his own birth mother, this child must be okay. This child has
i ntegrity. He is an honorable dgder son. o
[tearfully] and this is the story that | wanted to tell in my book.

It must have meant the world to your brother, as well.
Right, right.
What 6s the Korean way of saying, Al ittt

Kunoma Kunmeans large, bigOmais mommy.My mom becamé&un oma
to the children born to the little mommy. And Little Mommy, | called her
fiChagunOma Ghagunmeans | ittle. So, the transl

How did the two women address each other?

Oh, my Little Mommy called my molyungNim, whi ch means fAel
sister. o0 My mom YolGdeeydbo pagusti, s gelhnhtedal Il iyk
Alook here. o Literal translation is il

54



Maija Rhee Devine Interview # IMA-L-2013071

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

DePue:

Devine:

addressing a person who is youngertharuy, so | dondt know &
It ltds |i ke calling her AYounger Sis
What did the sweethearts call each other? | thoygiwas a word that

would be used by sweethearts.

Right. So, syom Skeicalled®dyobagael Yiobo lyameans

|l ook here. The Iliteral translation 1is
Ayounger sister. o

So, aterm of endearment?

Yes, familialtr el at i onshi p word. I dondot think
termofendeament , but itdés a term of famil:.
brother, aunt and uncle.

The next relationship I 6m curious abou

grandmother.

Hmm. That was good. My grandmother was eternally gratefinganistress

for producing male children for her son. So, that was very positive, but my
grandmot herds relationship with my mot
affectionate, close relationship. My mother really took good care of her
motherin-law. Her mothetin-law had some physical problems, | kribwhis

is in the book | know she had hemorrhoid problem and that was not treated
properly, so she had this hemorrhoid dropping out of her whenever she went

to the bathroom. It was my mother, she would get a cleamrageind gently

push that hemorrhoid back inside her and wiped her and helped her lie down,

this kind of thing. This kind of caéethat my mother provided to her mother

inlawd j ust caused a bonding thndawarsl excep
daughterin-law. This is another thing that | feel very strongly about, to

describe my mother, what kind of person she was.

And the last relationship | wanted to ask you about was between you and these
younger brothers, who were quite a bit younger than you.

Yes. The oldest of the four boys and one girl was at leastet@ndifference.
Actually, the oldest was a girl. In my book, | fictionalized it, and | said the

boy was born as the first child. But, in real life, it was a girl and then four

boys. The rlationship is very cordial. They were all taught, from day one, to
respect the Big Mommy and me, as their older sister. As far as they were
concerned, they were supposed to treat me as good as a real, blood sister. So,
webve had good relationship.

But, inrecent years, the girl, the eldest one, the girl and three youngest
boys, began to feel thateéel think this
be branded for life as the children of a mistress. And my presence reminded
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them that they were childreri @ mistress.So, to them, | became a symbol of
their own discriminated status in the society. So, the younger ones began to
distance themselves.

DePue: When you say you reminded them, you would tell them, or was it just your
physical presence?

Devine: No, my physical presence. Whenever | went to Korea, | would call them and
say, AHey, come to dinner with me. Let
spaghetti. | threw a spaghetti party one year, and they all came, with their
wives and children. So, atdt, they were curious enough about my life in
United States, and it was a novelty, this person coming in, throwing a
spaghetti party and everything. But gradually, in subsequent years, when |
tried to organize dinneremellankjest t hat , t
guessing that they just didnodét feel th
that reminded them of their inferior status.

DePue: Did you feel less guilty or better about yourself, when the mistress had a son?

Devine: No. No, it jusb no. The damage was done, the emotional damage, at the age
of five, being told that my mother might die, because | was not a boy. That
emotional damage was just forever. It was just done. There was just nothing
much that could happen to alleviate that.

DePue: Did you have any hints, at the time, that you had been adopted?

Devine: No. As | might have mentioned yesterday, there were some neighborhood kids
who tried to tell me, bt

DePue: | think you talked about the forehead.
Devine: Yeah. My mother always pointext all these physical features of myself that
were similar to my father and her and Grandmother to just demystify the
whole rumor forever. And | believed he

| was adopted. Plus, another thing that convinced md thas$ not adopted is
my mot her s ddcheevwo tcioomrp Il ted eme unconditi on:
believe that any adoptive mother could do such a thing.

DePue: Was the ultimate example of that her insistence that you were going to get an
education?
Devine Yes, and she did things like, for example, when | was going to school,

elementary school, first grade, in wintertime, she would put my shoes on the
warm hearth, while | was eating breakfast. When | was ready to go to school,
she would put the warmed sisoen my feet, so that from between the house

Intervieweeds | ater note: Al did not verbally tell t
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and the school, my feet would be war m.
princesso (both 1 augh)
|l was always a sleepyhead in the mo

wake up in time for school. So, what she disywahen she could physically
carry me on her back, pigdyacked me, she would put me on her back, early
in the morning, early enough for me to get the breakfast in and go to school.
She would piggyback me and run around the neighborhood a few blocks, to
wake me up. This is her way of waking me up in the morning. Now, how
many adoptive mothers would do that for an adopted child? This kind of thing
just totally settled for me, forever, that this was my mom. This is my blood

mom. So, there were rumors herelant her e, but hey, | don
but é
What would your mother telly@guwh en | 6 m sure you went

consoled about the teasing and harassment you were §etiiotaut being a
girl instead of a boy. What was she telling you?

Yeah. Like | said, you know, she would point out all these physical features of
myself that were proof that | was her
She had this conception dream. Women, before they get prégtiasis a

folk belief, agai® theyare supposed to have a conception dream, a

significant dream that would show she would expect a child. It would

sometimes even tell whether the child was going to be a boy or girl. She told

me her conception dream over and over and over again, how tf@pkony

came down from heaven and dropped into her lap. That was her conception
dream, and she would tell me that, over and over, to instill in me how I was

her birth child.

The peony would be emblematic of what?

Peonyisusuallyagirlfl it was going to be a boy t
usually tiger or dragon. But, a flower would mean she was going to have a girl
child.

Wel | , | 6ve hear d & wmaybeshs is soinéthtanglgethe al s o
from the boolk but, you were supposed be ten times better than a boy.

Right, right.
Was that something she was telling you?

Yes, yes. Once she recovered enough to sit up and eat her own food and drink

her own Chinese medicine, without somebody spoon feeding her, then,
whenever a neighbor said, AOh, this wo
boy, 060 she said, she went to many fortu
that girl would grow up to be ten times better than a boy, which gave me the

hope that, hey, there ntuse something | can do. | have to figure out how to
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become ten times better than a boy, then it will make my mother happy. It will
redeem me from this guilt of having caused my parents so much tragedy.

| would think that that statement alone wobhlee é Obvi ous| y, your
i nternalized that. She wasnodt just say
No.

She was determined to get you that way, and you were determined to help
become that.

Yes, yes.
And thatdés why getting? an education

Yes, exactly. In addition to the fact that in Confucian tradition, overall
education is very important, especially for men. But, in this case, my mother
had only me, so education for me was number one priority for her.

Were there publicchools, paid for by public taxes, at the time?
Yes.

So, you were going to school. Your
school?

| think elementary schools were mostly free, public schools. | think there were
private elematary schools, too, where there was tuition. | know, when | went
to middle school and high school, it was a Presbyterian school, and there was
tuition that my mom had to come up with.

Why were they wanting you to go to the Presbyterian school?Wleey e n 6 t
Christian themselves, were they?

No, they were not. The reason is because | wanted to go to the Kyunggi.
Kyunggi is number one middle and high school in Korea, even now, Kyunggi,
and Kyunggi is what | was going for. | studied for it, arelén had a tutor.

My classroom teacher offered tutoring service in the evening, and my parents
paid for my tutoring sessions to get extra tutoring, so that | could pass this
entrance exam to Kyunggi, number one school in the country. But | failed it.

W a

par

Sohen, my mot her said, my parents

can bribe somebody in the school and get you in. Would you like us to do
that 20 They asked me, and | was too
school by way of od, eddm@t addrti that. .

So, the educational system, at that time, for middle school, high school
and college, was strictly classified. So, fickhss university, firstlass high
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school, mi dd | e s c h-dasdcollegé, maldie schoohasd e 6 s s
high school. And then third class. It went on like that. So, | had no choice but

to go to one of the schools classified as seadasls category. At the top of

that lis® even among those schools, there were better schools and a lot not so
good and at the topf the schools, among the schools in the second

category, was Jungshinudn-g-s-h-i-n Middle School and High School. And

that happened to be a Presbyterian sch
there, even though my parents were Buddhist, and thegvbdlin folk

beliefs, and my mother had a shaman aunt.

Once you got to school, was part of the education learning about Christianity?

Oh, yes, definitely. This was a Presbyterian school, determined to convert as
many students as possibleGaristianity. So, every single day started out with
a kind of athletic assembly out in the yard. Everybody had certain amount of
aerobics movements we were supposed to do. We did. Then, from there, we
went into the chapel. In the chapel a school ministarlevgive a sermon, and
we sang Christian songs. Then, we went to classrooms.

In addition to that, we had Bible classes at least once a week. Maybe it
was twice a week. The school minister taught us Old Testament and New
Testament stories, and | loved thaloved the Old Testament stories. They
are just wonderful stories.

But, what | di-corebaresdll cokversioneflortistohe har
the minister, to convert all of us. So, in the Bible class he would have students
who didndét grevioussSuncdy;uve leat to stdn@ up and be
ridiculed in class. So, | hated that. | hated that kind of hard sell. They tried
everything, for six years, to convert me. There were lots of students who
justé Anot her thing i s,ringahdeoyiceimthel r evi v
fall.

Revivals lasted, like, three days, and it was an intensive conversion
effort period. They invited famous ministers from outside, and the minister
would just give passionate speeches every day for three days. And, at the end,
hewould have all the girls who wanted to convert to come up to the podium
and accept Jesus Christ. Lots of girls cried, and they became very emotional,

and accepted Jesus Christ. | didnodt ; I
This sounds | i ke algébrdscoaslchool, stri
Yes, it was a girlsdéd school

Were these teachers and preachers you were encountering, were they
Koreans?

Yes, we had no neKorean teachers at that time.
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So, even in those years, the Presbyterian Church in Koreavelh
established?

Yes, very well. In the back of the school grounds there was a brick building,

and that was the residence for one of the Presbyterian ministers. We were

invited into that house sometimes for a little discussion group, English

conversation, discussion group. | remember going in there as a group, and ah,

the smell of chocolate chip cookies th
(laughs) freshiybaked chocolate chip cookies.

Thereds that chocolate agai n, huh? (bo

Yeah. And there was a grand baby piano in the living room. You know, it

really was a culture shock for me, because | was led to believe, through the

Bible studies, that ministers, Christian believers, were supposed to practice
thriftiness. They were gposed to be poor in spirit and not go for riches,

worldly rich, you know, that kind of philosophy. So, | had that in mind, and

when | went to the ministerdéds house, |
very, you know, thrifty way. But there was a balygrgd piano in the living

room, and there was chocolate chip cookie smell all over. (both laugh) |

t hought é Il was confused. | was a | itt
Wel | , |l want to ask you a question tha
beentalkkinpbout , but | dondét want to get tc
a very powerful change agent in society. Was Korean culture and Korean
society affected because of this incre
survived?

Uh huh. There were mumerable ways Korean society was impacted and
changed forever. | would like to just talk about only two areas. One is about
women, impact of the Korean War on women. | talked about it this morning to
your Optimist group. Women used to stay hénmbat was heir Confucian
teachin@ taking care of the #iaws and children and all-law family

members, uncles and aunts. But, when the Korean War broke out and men all
went to fight the war, théy even men who were supposed to be exempt from
entering the war, likeny father, the only male child in the family, even for

one generatiochwer endt exempt . My father was t
family for third generation, and there was no reason he needed to be drafted.
But, even my father was drafted, you know. They fask all the men they

could get their hands on.

So, suddenly, women found themselves in charge of having to figure
out how to make some money to take care of tHaws and children. So,
they went out and into the streets and sold whatever they cduld gey
could knit, they knitted booties for babies and hats and sold that. They went
into the hills and picked dandelions and made and sautéed dandelion patties
and sold that. Some made these little brown sugar candies they roasted on a
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hot griddle ad sold those things. So, women went outside the home and
earned money.

Three years later, when their husbands camedatkny husbands
didndédt come back, and these women cont
householdd but men came back, and, if they were capablgetting jobs
again, then the family became tvgarner family. Sometimes women decided,
AOkay, I did my job during the war.
making the money again. o

But, | am guessing at lea&0%or more percent of women stayed with
whatever business ventures they started during the war, because it gave them a
sense of achieving something, achievement, a sense of empowerment. So, that
became a huge 1 mpetus for womends | ibe
movement.

AnotherisKoran War 6s | asting -hemfdie;ect on c
t housand children became orphans. Kor e
orphans was extremely, miserably pathetic, because of the Confucian tradition
of believing in male bloodline being the most importdrtey did not accept
non-bloodrelated children, out in the streets. So, many children went to
orphanages, and then, from there on, they were sent overseas as adoptees.

But, those who didndét get those cha
roving marketplaes and doing whatever they could to find food, picked
garbage, picked food scraps thrown on the ground. They picked those up, and
many of them became pickpockets, small, petty thieves. So, the impact on
children was tremendous.

DePue: So,0né theimpacbo n womends & yol se as avery positive t y
thing.

Devine: Positive, yes.

DePue: And the impact on those orphans was critically negative.

Devine: Totally, uh hmm, devastating.

DePue: How did your family manage to pay for school, because yohefatas, as
you described before, | ower middl e cl a
this.

Devine: Yes, yes. He made good wage, but it wa

we had enough food on the table. But, unofficially, | heard my mom and my
father talking and overheard some things, which made me believe that he did
some unofficial things, like being a truck driver sometimes, for extra cash. He
used to sell the gas out of his gas tank. There were enough people interested in
buying gas at a chpar rate from a truck driver willing to sell gas out of his
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truck tank. So, | think he made some extra money. One of the ways of making

extra money was this kind of thing. He might have used his company truck to

deliver a load of something for somebodytthawa s not part of hi
know, exactly, the many things that he engaged in that was not official,

officially sanctioned kinds of things, but | think he did some of those things to
supplement his income. So, he was able to afford my tuition.

Were you thankful or embarrassed that he was doing these kinds of things?
What was your attitude?

Yeah. These things | kind of, indirectly and roughly, just guessed was going

on. |l didndét have hard evidehmse, and I
highly that that kind of got me just dismiss some dubious things that he might

have gotten into.

Il think you mentioned, before we began
necessarily living all the time where your father was living, as well.

Right. After the war, we were reunited and lived in the same house briefly.

But, when | went to Jung Shin Christian School, about that time, he decided
our house was too small, because, then, the mistress had the second child and
expecting third chd. So, the house was too small. So, he got a house built
along the Han River in Hannadong area.

So, they moved into a new house. My mom and | were expected to
move in with them, but that was too far from the school | needed to attend. So,
t hat 6 synwther and Irgot a rental room closer into town. So, my
mother and | lived separately from my father, but my father came to visit us
and continued to provide money for our living expenses.

Doesndét that give some of the neighbor

Oh, no, no. That was perfectly honorable thing to do, for a man to provide for
his wife and his child, yeah. So, in a way, the mistress already had three or
four children, and my grandmother went to live with her.

My gr andmot her @sandse, ahke fthe mistrass] wdsani | i n
charge of taking care of the children and also of the grandma. She became like
a housewife, the first wife. She had the responsibilities, whereas my mom
didndét have any children t dmothea,ve t o t a
about to suffer dementia. My mother had no responsibility.

So, having my father come visit her every other week or once a month,
bringing gifts for her and for me and my cousin, it was like romantic
relationship all over again. | point that ooty book, too, how the
relationship dynamics of the family changed, so that the mistress got all the
responsibilities of doing dirty diapers for both her motimelaw and her
children. My mother had no responsibility, other than just taking care of me
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ard having my father come and visit, you know, on the side, which | think
made it a little romantic for them.

DePue: Was your mother working at this time?
Devine: She continued to knit sweaters for whoever was paying her to do so, and we
lived verycloseta he shaman aunt. So, she went

to help cook, at least two, three times a week, and brought some money and
also a lot of food.

So, | really grew up me and my cousin grew épon the food that
had been offered to gods, you knowh&al some people who were deathly
sick, and somebody who needed a promotion, and they were paying the
shaman to offer this ceremony so he could get a promotion. All these foods
that had been offered to gods, they were our dinners and lunches and school
lunch.

DePue: Plus an occasional chocolate, here and there, that you got from Americans or
from the Christians?

Devine: Yes, yes. (both laugh) It was a good life.

DePue: You told me what you didndét | i ke about
did you enpy the education you were getting?

Devine: Yes, they really provided me with exce
know then. The year | reached ninth grade, because | needed to become ten
ti mes better than a boy,dlikebell. Sosny mot her
was the top student in just about every class.

My teachers thought | should move on and take the entrance exam to
Kyunggi High School again, because we were offered that chance. | was a
chicken, chicken shit. | thought I would failagai and | didnét t a
opportunity. So, | finished my high school there.

For six years, | had this inferiority complex about going to a second
ranked school. The school badgeie were supposed to wear a school badge
on our collad while riding the buse® go to school, | covered it up with a
muffler or scarf or something, so that nobody would know that | went to a
secondclass school. This is how my inferiority complex about attending this
school was.

But, when | went to college, Sogang University, afte first
semester, students who made the honor roll, their names were posted on the
outside of the academic deands office.
proved the excellent education | received at the secamked school,
because the other kids tre honor roll, they were from Kyunggi. They were
from Ewha, which is second, number two in the country. So, there were
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students from these firsanked high schools, and they did not do as well as |
did, which, to me, proved that the Jung Shin middle scand high school
education must have been really good.

What were your favorite subjects at the time?
It was English literature. | loved English literature.
Obviously, you were learning English all the way through this process?

Yes, middle school and high school, English was a required subject, but we
were not taught spoken English. It was all translating word for word and
memorizing vocabulary and also learning the grammar.

So, by the time | went to Sogang University, mglegn English was
so poor, | was so shy about my spoken English that, the first day of school,
there were priests all lined up, American Jesuit priests. They were our

professors, and they were al/|l ' i ned up
mor ni ng.sd dletnet porfe t he coll ege said, A G
name?0 | was just so shy to speak Engl

was. | just ran away. (both laugh)

But, talking about this college: to become ten times better than a boy,
thatmeantinebed t o ful fil/l my mot her ds dr ea
| awyer. At that time, during tR®ose 194
whether boysorgir&par ent s6 dreams for their <c¢h
become a lawyer, judge, lawyer and judge. That wps t

Not a doctor?

Doctor cameéDoctor was ther e, t oo, doc
was at the top.

Is that kind of an extension of the Confucian belief that the ultimate
government official would be somebody who was stdepéhe law and
would be a judge?

Yes, exactly. So, my goal, throughout the whole middle school and high
school, was to go to Seoul National University Law School. Even as a high
schooler, I took this introductieto-law book, tweinches thick, ad | took it
with me, back and forth to school. | read introduction to law on the bus, to
learn about law ahead of boys that | would eventually have to compete
against. This is how determined | was to become a lawyer and go to Seoul
National University.

But, when | heard Sogang University just got establi8heaty were
American Jesuits who founded iand anybody getting B average and above
would be sent to United States on full scholarships. Immediately, it was
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between law school at Seoul National Universityl majoring in English
because Sogang did not have law schaobjoring in English and eventually
go to United States. The temptation to go to the country, where there were
lot of chocolate chip cookies (both laugh).

There is a theme here.

a

Yeah. (both laugh) Through foreign movies | saw, in foreign countries, | saw

men, boy and girl children were treated equal, more or less. The
discrimination against girl child
So, | wanted to go. | wanted tosjuget the hell out of that stupid, stinking
Confucian country. Il just didnot
that society any more.

Why was it that you were so intrigued or enthralled with English literature?

| liked literatue, even through middle school and high school. When there
was writing exercise that the Korean literature teacher gave, the teacher
always complimented me on my ability to write, and said nice things.

| was always interested in art. For exttarricularactivity during
middle school and high school, | took art. That was just free lesson, after
school. The art teacher offered this drawing class which, you know, sketchi

ren

have

ng

these plasteof-Paris heads of Venus and Roman sculpted busts. So, | did art,

after £hool. | did dance. For a while, | belonged to a dance group. And my
Korean literature teacher encouraged me to do writing, because | was very
interested in literature. All these were in my nature already, not law school.
just didnodét | ike that.

lguess one of the things | 6m curious
but, you were drawn more to English literature than Korean literature. | would

suspect that Korea had quite a rich literary heritage.

Right. Oh, yes. But, in order to go Aanerica, | needed to study English
literature, not Korean literature, because what university in United States
woulddl didndét know, at that time, t
Korean Studies and all those thidgso, | thought | needed to study His
literature to be able to go to United States.

Who were your favorite English authors or American authors?

hat

W

a

Oh, Mar k Twai n, Hemi ngway, William Fau

William Ravald kinghtds.i & Bruitehsjdabhl likedrJane
Austen, yeah. So, tons of British and American writers.

l 6m trying to figure out where |
we need to talk about, in terms of your high school experiences? Were you
involved withany extracurricular activities?
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Yes, extracurricular activities involved art class and painting class and dance
class and English conversation class.

So, all these things, to kind of reinforce the chances of your getting to the
right sdhool afterwards.

Right, yeah.

You were happy to be as totally focused on this, it sounds like, as your mother
wanted you to be.

But giving up law school really traumatized me for life, because choosing

between law school, Seoul Nata Law School, and Sogang University, the

American Jesuit University that had no law school, by choosing this school, |

gave up my aspiration to become a | awy
me. That meant | would become a failure, because | faileddome a

lawyer. By failing to enter a law school and failing to become a lawyer, |

would fail my motherds dream and her e
going to fail myself. This was the implication of the choice between the two

schools.

When | ciose Sogang, | was prepared to be a failure, to see myself as a
failure, a person who failed to fulfil
to choose Sogang. |l chose it for my ow
mot her 6 s dr e a m,do, solthatd dould be teratimés éetter than
a boy. So, this is a very serious, traumatic experience that stayed with me,

even today. |l 6m telling you, |l 6m deepl
lawyer that my mother wanted me to become. Evendéaoth peopl e t hi nk
successfd becoming a professor at a college, being a wériiarmy opinion,

no. This completely fails. This pales,
fulfilled that. l 6m a failure, totally
So, you justtold me that,asmuals you didndt | i ke the C
you grew up in, you havenodt escaped it

Right, exactly. This is how far reaching cultural conditioning can be. This is
how far reaching cultural conditioning can mess up a person for life. As much
as Iresisted it, | am the product of that cultural conditioning.

Yet, you made a decision at this time. In the crucial time in your life, you
make a decision that is very typically American and Western.

Uh huh. Only, because | just could narsl the idea of going to law school

and slaving over so many years over introduction to law book, that | detested,

and | tried to study, as a high school student. Only, because | could not stand

it, and only, because | could not stand living in that sgc@ten one minute

t han | could stand, t hat 6s why | chose
escape route.
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|l 6m guessing, though, that the very st
this Iis something that Amedicans canot
No. Throughout my | ife, I 6ve felt that

psychological counseling, to work on resolving of these issues | had with my
own self and the cultural conditioning, the conflict. But | never did. | probably
shoud have, yeah.

| 6m wondering, at the time when you we
high school years, youdre going throudg
your life, how much other things you were exposed to, of American culture,

music and food and

Oh, okay. One of the many ways that this education of the Jung Shin middle
school and high school was, they exposed the children to all kinds of outside
world, by taking us to movies, as a group. The whole school group would go
and seenovies, likeSeven Brides.

Seven Brides for Seven Brothayee of the great musical movies of the
1950s.

Yes, right. We went to see that, as a school group. And we went to see

fiStudent Prince the German prince who falls in love with aivaid. We
wenttoseedHanni bal 6s, HBXkapnendiibtailonswW&Quovent t o s
Vads 0 Do you know that movie?

fiQuo Vadis 0O
Yes.

l &m not surprised that priests and min
because of its very stromgligious themes.

Yes. And so, also operas. They took us to all major operas that they put out.

They were not necessarily opera troupes, coming from abroad. They were
produced among Koreans. Thekfdah@adyowt st
know,iMa d am BufilTéseard 1Qh,0 all those operas
and | became an opera lover for life.

How about American pop music? Were you getting any exposure to that?

No, but we were exposed to all kinds of classical music, Beethov
Schumann, Wagner. We were classical music addicts.

Did you have opportunities to encounter American soldiers, occasionally?

Oh, you bring a very good topic there. Yesterday, | told you about the soldiers
who gave me chocolate
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DePue: Which is happening during the war.
Devine: Yes, during the war. After the war, during high school, there was a group of
us who were in an English conversation group. As part of that, one of the
girl 6s mom ran an orphanage and was in

missionaries, who donated clothing, and, also, some soldiers. | guess military
people also donated some things. Through her, we invited a group of
American soldiers to dinner.

We had our moms prepare all this feast. (laughs) | remember, we had a
couple of dnners with American soldiers, like that. We were trying to
improve our spoken English by practicing English on them. So, that was one.

And then, another story is, during college, my best friend and I, we
were just so desperate to try to have opporesitd use our spoken English
skills that we used to go to Itaewon. You know, this is the area right outside
the Eighth Army, Itaewon Streets. This is where hookers had their beats. They
would be walking up and down these streets, looking for soldieriskahem
up. We were college students, but we went there, and we did the same things.
(both laugh)

DePue: | would think, with a significant exception.

Devine: Yeah, we were not looking for anything sexy. We just wanted to grab some
Americans, so we couldactice our English.

DePue: Were you dating Koreans at the time?

Devine: Another very interesting topic. Through college, too, I did not want to do
anything other than study, because | needed to become ten times better than a
boy, no matter where | went,hether in Korea or United States. So, | was
totally focused on studying. After classes, | went to the library, straight there,
and buried myself. A boring story, okay? (laughs) But, there were two or three
people, men, | dated, during the junior and seyears. | dated them, but, as
soon as they would become serious about our relationship, it just kind

of ésomething just turned in my stomach
i mmedi ately dropped them, dropped the
longermant to see you.o0 | would just | mme

notes left at the school. | would just drop them.

| attribute this tendency, to resist more serious advances from guys, to
my childhood experience of seeing men fool around, having méstyesses.
My father had only one, but there were other men, doing similar things, and
t hey had mistresses all the ti me. My a
gave birth to a boy, male child, her husband ran around, and my aunt went to
t hat mhoside and ®re bag off of her.
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| heard these stories all my life, growing up, and women always

saying,

iOh men

are dogs.

Me n
(laughs) Not just regular thieves, mountain thieves. They are worse, worse

ar e

wol v

than regulartiieves, okay? So, men are mountain thieves. | grew up with this
cultural conditioning, men are mountain thieves and dogs and wolves, except

for my father. |l think thatos why, whe
cold, and | immediately dropped him.

|l wrote a short story, and this was
fiThe Saffron Housed But my h uThdSembDumoperStped it A
(both laugh) I'dm a serial dumper.
Well, not in all cases, obviously.
Not in all cases. (laghs)
This i s probably a good place for us t
discussion about college and, then, the important step of getting to the United
States.
Yes, okay.
So, thatodés what wedbvermngomt to | ook forw
All right.

Thank you very much.

Youobr e

wel come.

(End of interview session #2 #3 continues)
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Interview with Maija Rhee Devine

# IM-A-L-2013071.03
Interview #3: August 30, 2013
Interviewer: Mark R. DePue

The following material can be used for educational and other noftommercial
purposes without the written permission of the Abraham Lincoln Presidential Library.
AFair useo criteria of Section 107 of the Co
materials are not to bedeposited in other repositories, nor used for resale or
commercial purposes without the authorization from the AudieVisual Curator at the
Abraham Lincoln Presidential Library, 112 N. 6th Street, Springfield, lllinois 62701.
Telephone (217) 785955

DePe: Today is Friday, the 30th of Augyug013. This is Mark DePuyagain, and
this is our second session today with Maija Devine. Good afternoon.

Devine: Good afternoon.

DePue: We just got done with a good lunch, améybew e 6 r e tofinestaugh with
ourdiscussionlt 6 s been,ufpad i nehtiisngpoi nt . Il 6m s

more.| wanted to start with picking up where we left.ofbu were talking a
little bit about the high school student and into college years and dating and
exposure to some more Anrean culture and things like that. Boine time
youtoldm& you di dndt ,llbyoutmentieneidd mou wexepom
short to attract Korean men.

Devine: Yes uhhmm. Koreansoverall, are shorter people than Caucasiites/be
because of thatheyare constantly making references to people who are short
and making them feel uncomfortab®n, | hadaninferiority complex about
my size, my height ardd

DePue: How tall are you?

Devine: |l was five, but | t,homwk t lhodlindahtunk t t | e |
(laughs)

DePue: Five feet.

Devine: Five, even. And my appearance, too, my

attractive to Korean men. They have their own concept of what is beautiful,
andl didnodét fit .tShladét eldi rad fefw anetne g dmuy |
particularly, wildly popular among boys.
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DePue: Well, you just told methough, before lunch, that there were two boys that
were particularly interested.

Devine: Yes two or three boysduring college. But other girls had tentwenty guys
interested in them. So, relatively speaking, | wascoosiderederribly
attractive.

But, once | came to United States, oh man, that whole thing changed.
American guys just found me very attractive and women, too. They really
liked my sizgandwomenwo ul d often comment , AOh, W
wi sh | was RAkthesetthengs| s positive attemtiorfraan both
men and womerhelped me get over my inferiority complex about my height
and my appearance.

DePue: Well, w e 6goirg to hear a little more about that. But | wanted to spend a few
more minutes talking about your college experience. You said you went to
what college?

Devine: SogangSomeans wesfgangmeansriver.Sa t 6s a col |l ege on t
Branch of Han Rivenyvest section of Han Rivelt was found by American
Jesuits from Wisconsin provinc&/hen they came in to establish a new
college in 1955, the Korean educators went up in arms against this idea. They
sai d, AWe already hayv eul atiomaUniveesiyt uni v e
andYonsei University.Why do Americans have to come in and establish a
new college? The only thing that will happen is brain drain. All the bright kids
will go to United States and would never come ba&kit they went ahead
and esablished ifin 196Q The big publicity campaign they led wasudents
who got B averagehroughall four yearswould get a scholarship to go to the
United States to a graduate school.

DePue: Thus the fear about a brain drain.

Devine: Well, yes, brairdrain. So, the graduates did go to the United Stadesl
eventually some of them came back. | was one of the first to come back to
United States.

DePue: What year did you start college?
Devine: Sixty-one. Graduated i § &d | went to St. Louis Univeitg in the fall of
665
DePue: Youdbve already talked about why you we

interesting to heaias well. One of the things you did talk abatibugh,going
through junior high and high schoialthis Presbyterian schoaljas the ful
court press that the Presbyterians put on you to convert you.

Devine: Right. How did | convert to Catholicism?
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Well, did that happen? Did the Jesuits really press religion onirytlat
respect?

No, no, no. | went to S@gg College Jesiit priestswere my professors.

Ninety pecent of our professorat that timewere American Jesuits from

Wisconsin ProvinceThere was a chapel, and on the chapel dbere was a

Mass times all announcgalit there was not one priest or another Catholic
student who saMdssinbleMpbbdyobpugoanyg pr
do one thing or anotheat all not like the junior high and high school

Presbyterian schodl went to.

After spending a semest@vatching these priesand Catholic
studentgyoing in and out of the chapel, but not receiving any invitation
whatsoevert o come t her e, | deally goddgaing atnh er e 6 s
there. Something good is going on, and they are keeping it from me. | decided
to explore what was going o8o, during the first summer vacatipafter the
first semester, | joined the catechism class to find out exactly what good
things were going orAt the end of the catechism class, | became baptized

One of the appeals for me was the existence of the system of
confessionAs Catholics, you went to confession, confessed your sins to the
priest, and the priest said, fAFather a
y 0 u 0 a n,dnd &e ghve tishhings to do, like so many Hail Marys and so
many Our Fatherand hat was it. If you did thatour sins were forgiven. It
was kind of a spiritual washing machine. You could get your spiritual mind
washedl i ke doing | aundry in a washing ma
clean cut. Once you went to confession and didetthings, | could start all
over againThat was a very appealing aspect of Catholicism to me.

Now, Catholicism, obviouslyyoub ve got;ybhévPopget priest
are nuns, but the nutwtesamedeneddf goi ng t o
authority in the church. Bytwhen youget beyond that, did you find the

message you were hearing from Christians different than Confucianism and

the paternalistic society and the emphasis that was there?

| felt that there was more equality between raad women within
Christianity, whéeherit was Protestant or Catholicism. So, in that sense, |
found it refreshing. AlthougHater, when | did more Biblical studies, |
realized there wreas manypatriarchal values in Old Testament and even
some parts olew Testament. Butompared to the Confucianism | was
exposed to, Christianitypverall was much more equitable toward men and
women.

Your major there continued to be English literature?

Yes.
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DePue: Where did you pick up your ability to epk English, because you speak it
very well?
Devine: No. | did not speak well, and the first day at schbol coul dno6t even a
the question, AWhat is your name?0 (I a
DePue: As we talked about beforéut you obviously got beyond that.
Devine: Yes | immediately needed éoit was a languagénmersion program,

because we had éowelbwe had a couple Korean prof
taking classes with them. Sall the classes | took were taught by native
speakersimmediately | needed to just undensti and write notes in English

and take tests in English, and everything was done in English. | had to catch

up real quick, and | was able to pick it up pretty fast.

DePue: Youbve talked before about the sacrifi
tomrake sure you got a good education. I
university now is much more expensive than going to the other séhools

Devine: Oh yes.

DePue: And, by this time, that there had already been some traditions established that
all thoseother children that were coming along weeeding tayo to school
and have those expenses paid for.

Devine: Right.
DePue: How did you afford going to school?
Devine: Right. The first semester tuition was paid by my father, the adoptive father.

After that | knew there wasnomoréhat 6 s anot her reason |
and got on the honor roNvhen you get on honor roll, you get fallition

scholarship. Sdrom then on, the rest of the college days, three years and one
semester, it was all free.

DePue: Where was the college getting its moA&ertainly not from the Korean
governmentl would think

Devine: Oh, college moneyOh, Jesuits, the president and development affice
working for the universitythey were all out asking for money from Antarin
Catholics throughout the whole world, actually. They sent out these donation
solicitation letters every month.

DePue: Were you living at home at the time?
Devine: Yes with my mom and my cousin.
DePue: Why did your cousin end up living with your moas well?
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Well, because her mother was not able to take care of her. She was working
for a wine house. She was working many hours during the afternoon hours
and also nightimes too.My mother felt that it was not a very good
environment for a chd to be growing in that situatio®o, she took her under
her wing.

Did you work at the time?

Did I work, during college? Yes. | had a pditne job as a switchboard
operator. At that time, you had these cords that you had to plug in®ihole
the switchboard. Yah | worked.

Did you like that job?

| loved it. | thought it was just | t was empowering experience becatise
the first time | could make my own monegver which | had some control.

Was there any tallat that timé we already talked about your own dating
experienced was there any talk among your relasvgour mother and
grandmother, etceterthat, oh, we need to start finding her somebody to
marry?

No, absolutely not.
But, that would mrmally be the experience, would it not?

Yes, it is. College students were not allowed to date, have any serious
relationship. Parest grandparents, everybody encouraged college students to
only concentrate on studying. Once they graduated, therediately they

were swamped with all these marriage arrangement propbgatsot until
graduation day.

Was that another reason to come to the United States for graduate school?
No, no, no.

Tell me about the process that you wémbtigh to decide to go to the United
States. That was obviously part of the arrangement when you went to college
there in the first place.

Yes, that was my hope and expectation. fasdexpected was always at the
top, so there was no questioroabmy getting a fultuition scholarship to a
graduate school somewhere in the United States.

How did your parents feel about that?

Oh, they were delighted. You know, as | probably said before, to my mbther
could do no wrongNo matter vinat it was, whatever | decideshe went along
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with it. She waderribly upset that she would not be able to see me for several
years. She was broken up. In fact, at the airgbe cried so much that I just
could not stand it anymorebarely even saidyood by to her | just turned
around and left, because she was going to continue to cry.

She had to be fearing also that you might never come back.
Right, right yeah

I know that that was not the only traumatic experience thatemegapbefore
you came to the United Stajéisat you discovered another piece of news.

What? Oh, the adoption news, yes. When | heard that, | just immediately went
into total deniglno.

How did you hear it?

Oh, the man who brought ni®m Manchuria to Seoul and gave me to his
nephew and nephew&erwiluechhe Heolsdi oche 7
be an old man, and you are going to the United States, and you may not return

at all Or, if you return it may be several years from nolvmay be dead. Sb

need to tell you something that | kept from you all your life. You have been
adopted, 0 he said.

Il just acted I|Ii ke I didndét hear a t
rejected it. It just cannot be possible. First, if | knew | badn adoptedhen |
would not have felt so much guilt for

unhappiness, of having to invite a mistress. All that guilt and all the guilt
during the time 1 felt | needed to become ten times better than a boy to make
my mother happyall that was not necessary. All that suffering and anguish
and efforts, staying up
all night to study for
the exam the next day
all that was for
nothing. There was no
reason for me to drive
myself insane like that.
And | did that, all my
yourg life. And here
this man is telling me
there was no reason §§ _
for it. You have g F p
biological brothers 'S
older one, twin =

brother, and younger Maija's biological family. (left to right) older brother, Sodack
brother. If | lived in Rhee; twin brother, Jongjeon Rhee; mother, Wisiltkleon
that hOl-Jse it would and younger brother, SoehRhee, 1994
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not have mattered whether | became ten times better than a boy or less good
than one girl. It would not have mattered. | would not have driven myself
iInsane trying to reach this goal, which | thought might be impossible for me to
fulfill.

Why did he decide he needed to tell you this?

Because he thought he might Oiefore | came back to Korea, and he just felt

he needed to clear his heart out before I left. | went into a complete, @ewial

this is what happened. My older brother and my twin brother and my younger
brother, they all knew | was their sist&hey cane and visited me. | was only

one who didndét know they were my actua

You meanyour biological family was living close to you?

Yes in the same town. After they moved down from Manchuria, they came to
Seoul My adoptive pards were living in Seoutoo. Sq we were all living in
same town.

All of these adults knew about this relationship.

Yes everybody knewexcept for meMy older brother came to visit mat

least once a montland took me swimming to thevar and picnicsMy twin

brother began to come and seg toe, during high school day®e went

playing ping pong. But | didndét see th
the United States for graduate studies.

When | arrived in St. Loujd immedidely attracted the attention of an
Italian boy, Italian guywho was getting a masters in psychology and
counselingand he became interested in.rifée got engagednd| sentthe
engagement photo my older brotherbecause older brother and I, | knew
him all my life, because he came to see me and my fa®ilyl sent the
picture to him, and he apparently shared that photo with my twin brother and
the younger brother.

| got a letter from the younger brothene dayHe s aNundgHe i
called meNuna Nunameans oldersistet 6 s an endearing name
sistetNunaHe sai d, dl have been waiting al/l
Nuna | was forbidden to callyoNungbecause | wasnbt supp:¢
we were brother and sister. But now | cafl youNuna 0

He said, iYou Kk no™wnthatybweloolplikegct ur e you
exactymy mot her. Youdre | i ke@atdoenHewi n si
wrote this letterYou know, | was a heartless little witch. | was in such a
complete denialabut t his and didndédt want anybo
knew about this adoption, that | wrote a letter back to him. | wrote only one
Il i ne. I sai d, AWhy t he hell should | I
And neveé  Hrever wrote me again.
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DeRue: Did you actually not believe it, or theveas one part of you that did believe it
andunderstod it and the other part Jjust cou
Devine: Righttco ul d n 0 t, yea. dlere wds great possibility | look liked her, but
|l didndéodmwiant hao. al didndt want to acc

think that | knew | was adopted.

DePue: Il 6m cur i ous. WhaYourolderbeother was coming tonvisit n g
you; your twin brother was coming to visit ypwere you thinking thejust
wanted to be friendsor were you confused that maybe they wanted to have a
more serious relationship?

Devine: No, no, ngthey were known to me as the sons of my paédniends. They
were my parentdriends.

DePue: Soyou didnodot t hofintkanthaiyt hi ng mor e
Devine: No, absolutely not.

DePue: Did it change the relationship you had with your pareaitsll?

Devine: No, because | kept it as a complete, total, hundred percent,aenialy part.

Il didndét want to | et knpwlkmeewdbeutthe t he ad
adoption, becauseven letting her know | knew, | felt that would be an act of

betrayal of our relationship. If she knew that | knew, she would know that,

AOh, my daughter now Kk no Bosshesmowddderl not n
comgdetely and totally hurt. She would feel like she lost me. She would feel

like I was no longer hers alonlewas also part of another family. | just

couldndét bear to have Boelcompletelymevar,hat f e
never told her that | kneabout the adoption.

DePue: ltdéds interesting to me, 't
because they thought this would be so painful and
damaging to you.

never

Devine: Right, right.

DePue: And now, these roles are switched.

Devine: Yes Now | knew but, becausé thought it would be so
painful for her to know that | knew, | never, never told
her.

DePue: When did you find out about yoolderb r ot her 6 s n
the Korean War? Soonback Rheeas an

18yearold Korean Navy
sergeant during the
Korean War.
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Oh, I learned more and more about that. | knew that he was Methe

becausewhen he was in thavy, during the Korean War and before and

after, he came iNavy uniform. Sgl knew he was with thdlavy. But his

involvement inthe Incheonlanding, that part | learned afterward. Because |

had a continuing relationship with hitlhroughout my elementary school,
through teenage years and coll ege, we
that | never told him | knew he was my blood brother. We continued the same
relationship. DePue:Did he know that you knew?

No, nq this is the whole thing. Nobody

This friend tells you, but nobody else now is aware that you know this secret
that 6s been hidden awa8y from you for a

Noono. But they didnoét tell me, but t he\)
So without me knowing, they secretlgmong themselvesuspected that |

knew. But | didndét know they suspect ed
complicated.

Well, this is going to sound terribly trivial, but this is the gist for so many soap
operasandKoreanghrive on this.

Yes, exactly. Yes, yes. Tlmallu, the Korean wave of all these movies being
world popular movies, this is because these family secrets and drama behind
every familyit 6s just continual fodder for mo

Did you apply to a variety of different schools in the United States to attend?

Actually, no. I just followed the advice of the college presideiito
recommended that | apply to the St. Louis Univerdigcause most of these
Jesuit professors who cat®eSogang, they came through St. Louis

Universityor Mi | waukee University. Thatds al
|l wasnodét aware that St. Louis Universi
Oh, it is Yeah it T s.wunilveédrssiat yessuotl 6m Jesuit
throughaut.

Was there anything you remembpspecifically about the decision to become
a Christian and the conversion ceremony. Was there anything likathat
baptism?

Oh, yeah,| have a baptism and the picturd$aybe | should have brought the
baptism picture.

Was that a meaningful ceremony for you?
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Devine: It was very meaningful. | thought | was starting a new, Ikend of leaving
behind Korean Buddhism, Confucianism, folk beliéde. w | 6 m adopti ng
new belief and new way of life. |ag coming to United States, too., 8avas
all new stage of my life.

DePue: Tell me about the actual travelling to the United Statesespmecially
arriving in the United States.

Devine: Oh, yah okay. Well, youknowl di dnét have irplang money
tickets. My parents were not able to afford tigat.luckily, there was an
announcement about a Fulbright Travel Grgiten to deservingpoor
students. | applied for theand there was a written exam, oral examd | got
that. Sq@roundtrip planetickets were free, and | had futlition scholarship
from St. Louis University

The president ofmy college Sogang Colleget that time, Father
Killoren, introduced me to Mr. and Mrs. Curtis Fpad St. Louis. He was the
CEOof St. Louis SteeCompany.They lived in Lalue, one of the exclusive
neighborhoods in St. LouiSo, he arranged for me to live in that house for
free, get room and board.

DePue: This is Father Killoren?

Devine: Father Killoren.

DePue: Was he in Korea or in the United &is?

Devine: Yes, he was in Korea. He was our first president of the calBgi®re the

university became a universjty was a college, and he was fresident of
Sogang College.

DePue: Soyoubve got a way to get toopadfore Unit e
once you get there. But that doesndt p
Devine: No. So, | got room and boardut | had no pocket money. But that time,

Korean government allowed only $50 per student going abroad to take with
her or him.So, | had$50 in my pocket when | came to St. Louis.

Because my visa application took a long time, and it got delayed
know, we had to go through artiommunism screeningood the mlice
investigated our family background. Every student going abroad, theiryfamil
background was checked thoroughly to see if we had anybody connected to
the North Korean communists.

DePue: Which governmenthe United Stateor Korean?
Devine: No, this is Korean government did thBassport and visa application
procesgiginvolved Kor ean government 6s investigat
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background. Sat got delayedFinally, when | got the visa to comewas late

to school by maybe a weekt the registration t h e yousavetdpay AY
late feed which is $35.S0, ait of the $50 | broght in my pocket, they took
$35 So, | had $15 for the semester or for the whole yfarwhatever |

needed.

For the whole semestdrnever once got a Coke or soft drink out of
t he machine. IWe werauehtmgnliinchesavithfother students .
and they were taking the soft drinks out of the machines. | had never done
that until Mrs. Ford, after about a month or two of me living in that house,

she said, AYou know, | just never s
money in itAdfAydushweusdai dhel p me wi
paying, writing checks and things,
t hat 6s what | djaddshelgavé& reepson®ib, $20&very f o r

few weeks.

| 6ve hear d vyour nsdurgersiwighsAmeritaospyand thhemn e f i

again in Seouwhen you occasionally would encounter Americans. What
were your expectations before you arrived in the United States? And what did
you discover about America after you got here?

Actually, my expedtions were pretty high, and Americans met those. | did
not find them disappointing.

Are you talking in terms of the quality of life, e

Quality of I|ife, the way they treat
about, at that timehe racial conflict between the whites and African
Americans.So, those things kind of escaped me. What | saw was just
Caucasianamostly, relating with foreign studentisthought they were very
positive and supportivéXeah | really enjoyed living in th&nited States.

Did you find some thingthatweredifficult to adjust to?

Yes, there werd-or example, you knonmy Engl i sh was not
not perfect now, arhele were someansstakes | mader f
with the Emlish language. For example, after living in that Ford household
needed to leave, change my living arrangen@mtwhen | left | left a note to

Mr. and Mrs. Fordthanking them for having kept me thefdis is the

ed

o o
~ D

mistake | madeinthat| s aiad,k fyDhu for everything vy
should have said, AThank you for every
was not at that level ye®o, what Ididwasi Thank you for every

didto med t oOnlynlater, | realized, oh myod, | made amistake | meant
to say somethingnicand it just didndét end up

| assume they were very gracious abouhibugh and probably never even
mentioned it to you.
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Devine: Well, you know there were some circumstances that might éavdo n 6 t
know, actually.

DePue: Were there other Koreans going to school?

Devine: Yes, yes. We got together with other Korean students from other universities
Also, we had a small group of graduates from the same college, Sogang
College, so we hung out tafer, yah

DePue: How about Korean food? | suspestiddenlyt hat wasndét as avai

Devine: Right, it was not available, and sihe next best thing tkimchiwas coleslaw.
There was one barbeque place in St. Louis that had famously wonderful
coleslav. So, | got addicted to that coleslaw. | ate that as much as | could.
Another thing that was very similar to ne kimchi, was green beans
drenched in Wishbone Italian salad dressing.

DePue: (laughs)

Devine: After | left the Fords, I lived in DeMattiddall. DeMattias Halis a convent
that belonged to St. Louis University. | went to live thé@ room and
board | and another Sogang grade worked in the kitcherdrying their
dishes and also doing work at the switchboard. And there, oh man, once a
week or sgthe nuns would have these green bepss drenched in
Wishbone Italian salad dressing. Oh, when that happénest ate a whole
mountain of that and ignored all other dish¢ggughs)because it was like

kimchi
DePue: Was there no other plag/ou ould get Korean food, authentic Korean food?
Devine: No. The only times that | did have authentic Korean food was if a Korean

faculty member invited Korean students to his or her home at Christmastime
or Thanksgivingime.That 6 s t he stad Korear foodAtter gat t a
into an apartment where | could cook my own things, | made mykawehi,

yeah

DePue: Well,t hat requires some ingredients that
average American grocery stoat the time. Was there a Koreatogery
store, an oriental grocery store?

Devine: Some friends who had cars might have taken me to oriental grocerylztbre
|l dondt remember it that much. |l coul d
grocery stores, and they had cabl@geaybenot Korean cabbagé butthey
definitely had western cabbage and carrdts just found whatever ingredient
we could find in American grocery stores and mkidechi

DePue: How about the red pepper?
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Red pepper tadhey had red pepper.
That you can geh American grocery stores?

Yeah in American grocery store¥ou know, | would make it once in a great
while, because | was under tremendous pressure to read all these books for my

degree workSo, when | did make&imchi Il just cm@muMgndt sto
fiancé saw me eating ttkéimchi and he sai d, AOh, oh, d
Dondét just drink it.o | said, Al 6ém not
laugh)

Did you find it difficult to get aroun

Ididndt h aandeso, yah tjustrhad to get rides from my boyfriend or
other friends. But Ilwas justsobysyt udyi ng in the |ibrary
places | really wanted tgo, anyway.

You mentioned that this boyfriend asked you to get ndPrie
Umhmm.
What were your thoughts about the whole situatarihat time?

| liked American men. They liked me, and the feeling was mutual. I loved
American nen. Theyore

But this is one particular man.

One particudr man. He was a very good mgnod hearted, great sense of

humor. He was studying to get a masters in psychology and counseliag

sensitive person and very wedlad person. S6 her e was not hing |
about him.

Were you serioushhinking about getting marrieat that time?
Yes, we were engaged. Um hmm.

Wel,bI know that didnét .8 éaotewadetitoy wor k
there wasthere anything else that you were surprisettha@difficulty, in
adjusting tdife in the United States?

There were things tlikeéahis Ford facmidyTheydwerét und e
super rich peopleThey had horses for their teenage daughter andasdn

they had at least one apple tree that was dropping these delimdirg

appleson the groungtheywere rolling on the ground, but they were not

picking those to eat. They were buying apples from the grocery storeg lljust
didndét wunderstand that. You know, they
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they were buyig them from grocery stor@hat kind of rich class ideakjust
didndot get it.

DePue: Did they emphasize drl 6 m goi ng tomagbeai wédsdaheér ¢
inappropriaté did they flaunt their wealtHike you would have expected a
rich Korean possibly to do?

Devine: No, no. They were not flaunting in any way. It was just their way of life. No, |
didndot think t heanotherghing!| hddldifficultyt i ng it . E
understanding is the teenagers. They were just so much into sex ang dating
sex and datig culture of young people, teenagers. | mé&areans were
opposed to dating and sex lifestyle for college students. Here, in United
States, | found that high school students were having sex and constantly
talking about dating and matters relatedtothatat s hocked me. I
that at all. I inherited the Confucian cultural traditioning of kind of a
puritanism,puritanism as it relates to sexual matters.

DePue: Sot hat 6s somet hing that happens after

Devine: Yeah right. Sq | was scandalized by teenage behaviors, especially as it
related to sex and dating.

DePue: Were you attending church during this time?
Devine: TheMass, Catholic chapel. There was one in_8uis University, and we
went there.
DePue: How about your intentias after you got done with graduate school?
Devine: Oh, my intention was completely, hundred percent, to return to Korea and
teach there. Thatodés why | chose Engli s

would be coming back to United States and living hieeerest of my life, |

would have majored in anything but English literatin@cause native

speaking Americans were getting masters and PhDs in English literature.
There were PhDs in English literatueedime a dozen in this country. And

how could | compte against those people to get teaching jobs in this country?
So, | would not have majored in English literature. | would have done
journalism, library science, whatever else.

DePue: | think St. Louis University has a good law schibalot just a law scholp but
a good law school.

Devine: Yeah law schooll é@ o, no. No | aw school anymore
like that law school idea.

DePue: So you had been focused so much on becoming a lawyer, but it sounds like
you could never envision yourself bgia lawyer.
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Devine: No, ng and not envision myself going through what | needed to go through,

all the studying, to become a | awyer.
DePue: Did you have a chance to travel around the United States dtiatig this

time?
Devine: No, not during the graduate school d&&er | got my masters from St.

Louis University, | did go to Minneapolighinking | would get another
masters degree, this time in library science.l$al go to University of
Minnesota for one semest

DePue: Were you able to keep in touch with your fanolya pretty regular basis?
Devine: Oh, yes. | wrote to them.

DePue: Telephone calls, or strictly writirty

Devine: No, strictly writing. Telephone calls were too expensive and elaborate process

to make the phone calls.

DePue: When did you actually change schools and go to Minnedslihis the
University of Minnesota, you said?

Devine: Yes, the fall semester 8. Fall semester @b8. | got my masters during the
spring semester @8. Then Iworked during that summeand then saved up
enough money to pay for my way to Minneapolis. | might have gotten a
scholarship there, too, because | <coul
summer. Spl must have gotten a scholarship there, but | workedhie travel
and dorm fee, and | was there for one semester.

DePue: You majoredat the University of Minnesotan library science?

Devine: Library science.

DePue: Okay.

Devine: | hated it yeah

DePue: What did you hate about library science?

Devine: Why did | hate it? When | tookthe couysea | | ed A Re foendmrce Bo
instructor expected us to memorize everything that was in each reference
book andthere were 200 of those. I thougtht,i s i s crazy. Il jus

memorize all these books. WHawvant is, | want to be the persdhe

customerasking reference librariafiHey, | want to find this. Where can | go

to find this?0 | want to be on the cus
side.Sot hat 6s whapon, | | ddonitie dhaw totindt o d o
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something else to dd@hen a job offer came througinom Koreato come and
teach.

A couple more questionbefore we get you back to Koreknis is what | was
trying to think of before. What was your mastahesis about?

Oh, that was William Faulknehis nove] titled, fiLight in Augusband C. G.
Jungds co%dt € ®tJungJ u rt Godecept of théelf. That was
the title of my thesis.

C.G.Jung i8

C. G. Jung is a German psychiatristygi®logist, who advocated the
importance of all human beings recognizing the important role of the self
conscious mindMuch of the human conflicts and unhappiness rise from
trying to live with only the conscious minthe conscious mind being in

control o the I|ife. But thereds unconsci ou

to. When you have a balance between conscious mind and unconscious
mindd integration between the two parts of oursedvéisen we would be
happier.

After hearing your wholestognd t he trauma that youdv

not surprised that you were drawn to that particular philosophy.
Right, right.
Did you do any datingup in Minnesota?

Yes, | datedand that became a very serious relationship. But reenea

ready for marriage, and | had a visa problem. | was on a student visa, and
either | needed to go back to Koyea marry a person with a U.S. citizenship.
He was not readyso, when the teaching job offer came through, | took,that

and | t odudknow whare to findl me. | have to go to Korea and
teachoSot hat 6 s what | did.

It sounds likewhen you |l eft St. Louis, you
get married.

Right, right.

And when you left Minnesota
He was noready.
0 hewas not ready.

Yeah
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What was the offer you got to come back to Korea?

What was the offer8oodoWwo me n 6 s T e a © wieich Rter@exdnle e g e
Sejong Universit§ offered me a fultime teaching job, teaching English
literature.

First class, second class, third class?
Oh, second class.
But, you say that with no regret.

It was a teaching job, um hmmndit was a womends col |l
fact that | was t gealahntedtg raisetthea wo me n
consciousness of women, Korean women, about what Korean society was
doing to themand to become aware of other ways of life out there that will
raise their consciousness.

Well, speaking of having consciousngassing exgriences and Jungian
psychology and themlopping it all down in 1967 and 1968nited States,
which was essentially a cauldron of conflict at the &ime

Right, yes.

0 wereyou observing or trying to understand what was going on in the
United States in those years?

You know; | tried. | tried very hard to keep up with newewsweelandTime
magazines were my regular source of informatautside my own little world

of graduate schopalsoTV programs. Oh there were soifi€ programs |

really loved. It wagi Spyol dondét knoiwSpy?dD you know

Bill Cosby,ané | canét r diechatacder. t he w
Yeah,Robert Culp?
Robert Culp, yes.

Yeah Robert Culp and Bill Cosbyil Spyo was one of them. Oh, anothane
wasfiRun for Life dh aé& O, what 6s ,mygsodmessngd? Oh

So you had a little bit of time to watch Americawv.

Yes, yesl| did. Those two programs | watched, pretty religiously, yes.
fiBonanzead once in a while, | watchetthat.

Which is quite different fronfii S pwouldthink.
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(Laughs) Yahh s o | di dn éBonanza Bherb wasianother ond,
family drama, uml forget the name of itout it was just a family drama.

Most of these are dramash at y o u 6 r gnottoanédle8Yougy about
werenodt drawn to the comedies as much?

No. You know, humor is the most difficult part of learning a language or
learning a cultureHdu mor doesndt transl ate very we
American humoespecially All those guys, three men | dated most seriously

in my | ife, they all had sense of humo
Their sense of humor became better and hetserwent along with Current

my husband, his sense of humor is the biést the bestbecause his humor is

just natural. He dtgustcomeés owt najurain g t o be f u

lwould thihnk when youdre mi xitnhge rceud st ulroetss toofg e
opportunity for humor.

Right. (laughs)

Lots of placesdr misunderstandings and miscommunications and humorous
situations, |1 would think.

Right, right.

Well, the main thing that was consuming the United Statabat timewas
the Vienam War and the growing resistance to the naet War in he United
States, especially among student populations. You had to be seejng that
somewhatin both St. Louis and Minnesota.

Yes of course.
What was your feeling about that?

Yes, antiVietnam War demonstrations, movements, werdirgpat that time.

But | am very apolitical person. | would take in the news items, but not
particularly feel the urge to take action and join demonstrations, for example. |
did not become an activist in any way. | only tried to keep up with the news,
just knowing what was going on. Of courske tragic events like Was it
Cleveland?

Kent State?
Kent State. | kept up with the news, but | did not become an activist.

Were you aware that South Korea had a sizeable number of troops in
Vietnam?
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Devine: Right, right yes. And later | learned that that became a big basis for Park
Chung Heeds econamic development for

DePue: Park Chung Hee being the president later on.

Devine: President later on.

DePue: Okay, so when did you come back to Ka?PaVhen was that?

Devine: The spring semester &9.

DePue: Would it be fair to sayyou were just a little bit broken hearted about coming
back?

Devine: Oh, yes, yes. | was a mess. | was a mess.|Baew | needed to pull myself

up and do this teachgnob well. | enjoyed teaching immensely, and | was in
charge of putting out the school Englisimguage newspape®o | surrounded
myself with a few good students, and we worked on getting this newsletter
out. | forget if it was every other week or oncenanth, but | formed a very
close bonding, particularly with these reporter students.

DePue: Were yod looking for the right word hefe overt in your efforts to talk to
these young ladies aboperhapst her e6s anot her way of
world, other ttan Confucianism?

Devine: Um hmm.
DePue: How strident were you in pushing those views?
Devine: In conveying those views? | was not really a bsetl person on that point. |

was teaching mostly literature, and | conveyed those ideas through reading
literature, likeCatcher in the Ryewvhich | understanceven with Americans
that became a litehanging experience, readi@gtcher in the Ryd know

that was one of the books | taught.

DePue: Did you stay in contact with your American boyfriend for a while?

Devine: For a while, yes. And thelhmet my future husbandhecause he came as a
Peace Corps volunteer.

DePue: Ok ay. Let 6s talk about that then, how

Devine: Yeah He was assigned to teach at &wgyUniversity, my alma mateAs |
mentionedbefore, Sogng University priests were heavily criticized by
Korean educators for establishing that school, which will become only brain
drain. And here | wad,wasone of the first graduates to get a mesitdegree
and come backVy priest professors &ogang just could not stop talking
about me and bragging about r8e, when Michael came to that college to
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teach English as a second language, every other day or so a priest would say,
AHave you met Maija yet? You keow, our
Shebs teaching at Sood®dSo,dtermeanngthis Teache
several times, he thought he would check me out.

I might have missed this. Sap is a ceed school?
Yes.

Okay.

Sa those guys that | dated, thexere coeed.

Sq essentiallythe priests set you up on a blind date?

Yes | know. The priests, they just kind of dropped an axe on their own toes
by talking about me, bragging about me coming back to Korea, teaching. But
then they ended upeing an unofficial matchmaker for me and Michael to get
married.After that we left and came back to the United States, and they lost
me. (laughs)

When you came back to Korea, was there an attempt by your family to
arrange a marriage for ypas well?

Yes yes. | did go to some of these arranged marriage proposal meetings.
Describe one of those for me.

Oh, amiserable and pathetic affair. | was not interested at all in meeting any
Korean men. Bytonce in a whilel just comgied, just to pleaselust to get

my mom off my back or our landlady off of my back, | had a couple of those
meetings. But | was totally not interested. It was just a formality | went
through.

What happened? Did you go to a restaurant or what?

Yes, we went to arestaurant andtal@adh d not hi ng came out ¢
call the guy,; tahdehatgvasythe enddfit.6t cal | me

You described this before,abese two people would never even see each

other before. Wellnowlgless t heredd been some prog!
acrossthetablat | east . I assume youbre | ooki
other up?

Right, right. This is more moderday kind of a pralate meeting, you know.
If they met and they liked eaclher, then they would start dating. Jis is
for 1970s andB0s and modern daythey do meet like this. Bubefore the
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Korean War, the couples jugtiaps handsfgreed to marry without seeing
each other.

Maija, it seems to mehough that wha the Catholic priests were doing
wasnot entirely different from what yo
were trying to do.

Right, yeah
Do you remember the first time you met Michael?

Yes we met at a tea room in Sh@hon, ShirChon Rot ary. Thereo
rotary, and that areasicalled ShirRChon.Onthe eastsidjée her e6s Yonsei
University and Ewha University. Onthe westsideher e 6s Sogang Un
There are three major universities in that avéa.met at a tea rogmght

around the ShiChon Rotary.

He was already there; | was always late. He was always therédfrst.
stood uplike a good American gentlemaHe stood up, and he just rose and
rose and rose and rose, (laughs) because he was six feet three tht. Hauti
just all these curly ringlets of haall over. Oh, | just  Mfirst impression
was, AWow, this is r eaafteryweghidbwinandent . 0
started talkinghe just made me laugh with his humor, and he is just kiéd of
Good naturedess kind of shines out of his face. Kind hearted, generous,
gentlemanly, sensitive personality just shone throtighwas very well
travelled and, of course extremely well readHe just was a wealth of
interesting stories in history, world affairs, teds. So, you know, | could just
listen to him on and on.

|l 6m confused about one thing ,am
he just kept getting taller and
attracted to sWasneepeshdpgtoowdiizo 6s t al

t his.
taller

n
all

Too tall, yes, yes. Sethe interesting thing is thany guy | was engaged to in

St. Louis was like fiveeleven.The guy | dated in Minneapolis was about six

one? And Michael was sithree.So, the guy | was dating their height was

getting higher and higher (both laugh). I jokingly sayn at 6 s whlgle r eas o
stopped dating any more and married him.

How long did it takebefore the subject of marriage came up with Michael?

About six months. We mehiMarch, | think in March, and he proposed in
Septemberearly October? And we were married Novembgeatthe chapel of
Sogng College.

Was it toughat all to turn your back to the young man in Minneapolis?

It was. It was very, very tolg
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Did Michael know about any of that?

Yes, | told him. Even the firét second date. When he asked me for the
second date, | decided to just tell him, be honest and be open. l amin a

relationship,

and hereds the guy.

Howd6d hefthak e al |

Wel | , I dondét know, but he asked for a
think whatever you want to think.

Sol 6m in a competition, but 1 6m in the
place. (both laugh) What did your paretiink about you marrying Michael?

Yeah My parents, as | mentioned before, they were very supportive of

whatever | wanted to damajor decisionsThey did not ever object, fuss at all.

My father I  d o n pewer mehhinrbdit my mother and mgunt met him.

This is an interesting thingny aunt ever a very interested in the looks of men

and women

Is this the shaman aunt?

No, not the shaman aunt, but my cousin
Michael at an Italian restaurant,onef t he t hings my aunt s
Michael is handsomeas a masthanyou,as a girl . 0 You know,
me , Maija, as a girl, potenti al bride
than the briddo-beas a woman. 0 | taellamiéd at ed t hi

immediately loved her. (both laugh)

At that point in your life, did

it not bother you to have that said?

No, | was pleased. | was pleased that | was marryin¢ooph laugh) in terms
of physical appearancat least.

Were either of your parents
and any of your relatives
attending in the marriage?

Only my aunt and my cousi

and my mother attended the

marriage ceremony.

Is there any reason why
nobody else did?

| wanted to keep it very
small and notdvertise
becausgeat that time

Maija (center)and her husband, Michael Devine
(right), on their wedding day in November, 1970.
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